
           

CALENDAR FOR THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
BOARD CHAMBERS, COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING

1025 ESCOBAR STREET
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 94553-1229

JOHN GIOIA, CHAIR
FEDERAL D. GLOVER, VICE CHAIR
CANDACE ANDERSEN
DIANE BURGIS
KEN CARLSON
CYNTHIA JORDAN
JOANN SEGURA

JOSEPH VILLARREAL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, (925) 957-8000

The public may attend the Board meeting in person and remotely via call-in or Zoom. Board
meetings are televised live on Comcast Cable 27, ATT/U-Verse Channel 99, and WAVE Channel
32, and can be seen live online at www.contracosta.ca.gov. Meetings of the Board are
closed-captioned in real time.

Persons who wish to address the Board during public comment or with respect to an item on the
agenda may comment in person or may call in during the meeting by dialing 888-278-0254
followed by the access code 843298#. A caller should indicate they wish to speak on an agenda
item by pushing "#2" on their phone. Persons who wish to address the Board in person should
complete the form provided for that purpose. Access via Zoom is also available using the
following link: https://cccounty-us.zoom.us/j/87344719204. Those participating via Zoom should
indicate they wish to speak on an agenda item by using the “raise your hand” feature in the Zoom
app. To provide contact information, please contact Clerk of the Board at
clerkoftheboard@cob.cccounty.us or call 925-655-2000. A Spanish language interpreter is
available to assist Spanish-speaking callers.

Public comments generally will be limited to two minutes per speaker. Your patience is
appreciated.

A lunch break or closed session may be called at the discretion of the Board Chair. Staff reports
related to open session items on the agenda are also accessible online at www.contracosta.ca.gov.

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA
March 21, 2023

             

1:00 P.M. Convene and call to order.
 

CONSIDER CONSENT ITEMS: (Items listed as C.1 through C.4 on the following agenda)-

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 1

http://www.contracosta.ca.gov
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcccounty-us.zoom.us%2Fj%2F87344719204&data=04%7C01%7CJoellen.Bergamini%40cao.cccounty.us%7C4d9b6227de954fe4fdb808d9b8d16d66%7C76c13a07612f4e06a2f4783d69dc4cdb%7C0%7C0%7C637744031886981006%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=PKdsuFsellHoX%2FaeSL%2FlrRto8FhurbtdJAV74tAjvI8%3D&reserved=0
mailto:clerkoftheboard@cob.cccounty.us
http://www.contracosta.ca.gov


CONSIDER CONSENT ITEMS: (Items listed as C.1 through C.4 on the following agenda)-
Items are subject to removal from the Consent Calendar by request from any
Commissioner or on request for discussion by a member of the public. Items removed from
the Consent Calendar will be considered with the Discussion Items.
 

DISCUSSION ITEMS
 

D.1   CONSIDER approving the Housing Authority's Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Annual
Agency Budget; and CONSIDER adopting PHA Board Resolution No. 5248
Approving the Annual Agency Budget on HUD Form 52574.

 

D.2   RECEIVE report on Partnership for the Bay’s Future grant progress and disposition
of North Richmond Las Deltas public housing development.

 

D. 3 CONSIDER Consent Items previously removed.
 

D. 4 PUBLIC COMMENT (2 Minutes/Speaker)
 

ADJOURN
 

CONSENT ITEMS
 

C.1   ADOPT Resolution No. 5249, declaring June 19 or “Juneteenth” an official
Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa (HACCC) paid holiday.

 

C.2   RECEIVE the Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa’s investment report
for the quarter ending December 31, 2022.

 

C.3   APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Executive Director to adopt the Continuum of
Care Rental Subsidy Program Policies and Procedures for administration of the
program by HACCC and Hope Solutions.

 

C.4   ADOPT Resolution No. 5250 to approve collection loss write-offs in the public
housing program in the amount of $24,715.66 for the quarter ending March 31, 2023.

 

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Board meets in all its capacities pursuant to Ordinance Code Section 24-2.402.

Any disclosable public records related to an open session item on a regular meeting agenda and
distributed by the Clerk of the Board to a majority of the members of the Board of Supervisors less
than 96 hours prior to that meeting are available for public inspection at 1025 Escobar Street, First
Floor, Martinez, CA 94553, during normal business hours.

All matters listed under CONSENT ITEMS are considered by the Board to be routine and will be
enacted by one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless requested by a

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 2



member of the Board before the Board votes on the motion to adopt. Each member of the public
will be allowed two minutes to comment on the entire consent agenda.

Persons who wish to speak on matters set for PUBLIC HEARINGS will be heard when the Chair
calls for public testimony. Each speaker during public testimony will be limited to two minutes.
After public testimony, the hearing is closed and the matter is subject to discussion and action by
the Board. Comments on matters listed on the agenda or otherwise within the purview of the Board
of Supervisors can be submitted to the office of the Clerk of the Board via mail: Board of
Supervisors, 1025 Escobar Street, First Floor, Martinez, CA 94553 or to
clerkoftheboard@cob.cccounty.us.

Time limits for public speakers may be adjusted at the discretion of the Chair.

The County will provide reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities planning to
attend Board meetings who contact the Clerk of the Board at least 24 hours before the meeting, at
(925) 655-2000.

Anyone desiring to submit an inspirational thought nomination for inclusion on the Board Agenda
may contact the Office of the County Administrator or Office of the Clerk of the Board, 1025
Escobar Street, Martinez, California.

Subscribe to receive to the weekly Board Agenda by calling the Office of the Clerk of the Board,
(925) 655-2000 or using the County's on line subscription feature at the County’s Internet Web
Page, where agendas and supporting information may also be viewed:
www.contracosta.ca.gov 

DISCLOSURE OF CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTIONS
Pursuant to Government Code section 84308, members of the Board of Supervisors are
disqualified and not able to participate in any agenda item involving contracts (other than
competitively bid, labor, or personal employment contracts), franchises, discretionary land use
permits and other entitlements if the Board member received, since January 1, 2023, more than
$250 in campaign contributions from the applicant or contractor, an agent of the applicant or
contractor, or any financially interested participant who actively supports or opposes the County’s
decision on the agenda item. Members of the Board of Supervisors who have received, and
applicants, contractors or their agents who have made, campaign contributions totaling more than
$250 to a Board member since January 1, 2023, are required to disclose that fact for the official
record of the subject proceeding. Disclosures must include the amount of the campaign
contribution and identify the recipient Board member, and may be made either in writing to the
Clerk of the Board of Supervisors before the subject hearing or by verbal disclosure at the time of
the hearing.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 3

mailto:clerkoftheboard@cob.cccounty.us
http://www.contracosta.ca.gov


RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. APPROVE the Housing Authority's Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Annual Agency Budget; and

2. ADOPT PHA Board Resolution No. 5248 Approving the Annual Agency Budget on HUD Form 52574. 

BACKGROUND 
In compliance with the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development's (HUD) regulations, the Housing Authority of the County of
Contra Costa (HACCC) has prepared its proposed budget for fiscal year (FY) 2024. At present, the federal government's FY 2024 budget is not
finalized. The federal fiscal year (FFY) runs from October 1st through September 30th, meaning that HACCC's budget year is bifurcated by
two FFYs. Additionally, most of HACCC's programs are funded on a calendar year basis which adds another layer of complexity to budget
projections. HACCC's proposed budget is based on historical and current HUD funding advances. Staff monitors HACCC's budget to actual on
a monthly basis and reports any significant changes that occur.

Three primary factors impact the funding of a housing authority’s public housing and housing choice voucher (HCV) programs. These factors
are the amount of funding allocated to HUD by Congress, the national utilization rate (number of families housed) and the local utilization rate.
Congressional funding of HUD sets baseline funding for the Department's programs. HUD has not been fully funded by Congress for well over
a decade. As a result, housing authority programs are normally funded at less than 100% of need. Once Congressional funding is known, HUD
adjusts the funding provided to housing authorities based on the national utilization rate of each program. Utilization is the number of families
under contract at a given time or period. At the national level, if utilization has increased past HUD's budget projections because more families
are being housed, then HUD will reduce the money available to each housing authority. If fewer families are being housed nationally, then the
money available to each housing authority is increased. At the individual housing authority level proration works in reverse. Within the
parameters set by Congressional funding and national utilization, funding for an individual housing authority will rise when local utilization
increases and will fall when the number of families housed drops. HUD calculates program funding and utilization retroactively. Final public
housing funding in a given calendar year is not usually calculated until November of the same calendar year. Funding for the voucher program
is normally adjusted quarterly, with final funding usually calculated by March of the following calendar year. 

Action of Board On:   03/21/2023 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF COMMISSIONERS

Contact:  925-957-8028

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    March  21, 2023 
Joseph Villarreal, Executive Director

 
By: , Deputy

cc:

D.1

  

To: Contra Costa County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners

From: Joseph Villarreal, Housing Authority

Date: March  21, 2023

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: ANNUAL AGENCY BUDGET

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 4



BACKGROUND (CONT'D)

As stated above, housing authorities usually never receive full program funding. Further, there are often significant swings in program
funding levels from year-to-year. Over the past ten years, public housing proration levels have been as follows: 

2022 98.25%
2021 95.23%
2020 112.00% (because of COVID-19 supplemental funding)
2019 96.54%
2018 94.74%
2017 93.10%
2016 90.21% 
2015 85.36% 
2014 88.79% 
2013 81.86% 

During the same period, HCV administrative fee proration levels have been as follows: 

2022 84.00%
2021 80.00%
2020 92.00% (because of COVID-19 supplemental funding)
2019 79.00%
2018 80.00% 
2017 77.51% 
2016 83.94% 
2015 81.57% 
2014 79.77% 
2013 69.27% 

In developing HACCC’s proposed budget, staff used HUD's two-year forecasting tool to project Housing Assistance Payments (HAP) for
the HCV program including updated projections, and the PHA Excel Tool for computing Operating Subsidy eligibility for the Public
Housing Program. Other revenue items were estimated by utilizing the past three-year's median funding levels.

The two primary expenditures, labor, and benefits, were computed using projected costs based on the updated approved pay schedule. All
other expenditures were computed by augmenting the three-year median funding levels with any new planned activities.

HACCC’s proposed overall budget is shown below in comparison to last year’s approved budget, along with the projected change in reserve
levels. This overview is followed by a breakdown of HACCC’s four major program areas, HCV, Public Housing, State and Local programs
and Continuum of Care programs. Each section provides a brief program overview, the projected budget, last year’s approved budget, the
projected change in reserve levels and an explanation of the change from prior year. A more detailed budget is available for viewing at
HACCC’s administrative office. 

Agency Summary
2023-2024 Budget 2022-2023 Budget Change

Revenue $241,147,285 $215,571,829 $25,575,456
Operating Expenditures $ 33,550,606 $ 28,916,788 $ 4,633,818
Program Costs, Debt
Service & Other Capital
Improvement $206,366,484 $185,899,792 $20,466,692

To Reserves $ 1,230,195 $ 755,249

As a reminder, almost all reserves are restricted for use within each program. The designation of restricted or unrestricted reserves merely
indicates that the funds are obligated for special use within the program (restricted) or that they can be used for any purpose tied to the
program (unrestricted). The only exception to this rule is generally the unrestricted balance within the State and Local Fund. This balance
can be used in any of HACCC’s programs. 

Restricted Reserves Unrestricted Reserves Consolidated Reserves

Projected 3/31/2023 $ 2,828,977 $ 7,030,364 $ 9,859,341

FY 2024 Budget Impact -$ 732,409 $ 1,862,603 $ 1,130,194
Projected 3/31/2024 $ 2,096,568 $ 8,892,967 $10,989,535

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 5



Housing Choice Voucher Overview: 

The HCV program provides rental assistance to families in the private market. HACCC qualifies families for the program based on income.
Eligible families find a home in the private rental market and HACCC provides them with a subsidy via a HAP contract with the property
owner. HAP is paid by HACCC directly to the owner. Through its HCV programs, HACCC is authorized to provide affordable housing
assistance to as many as 9,714 families. Due to funding and regulatory restrictions, HACCC is projected to house an average of 9,320
families per month under the proposed budget. 

HCV Summary
2023-2024 Budget 2022-2023 Budget Change

Revenue $210,909,542 $185,918,944 $24,990,598

Expenditures $ 11,811,233 $ 9,525,737 $ 2,285,496

Program Costs, Debt
Service & Other Capital
Improvements $196,953,444 $176,463,789 $20,489.655

To Reserves $ 2,144,865 -$ 70,582
Restricted Reserves Unrestricted Reserves Consolidated Reserves

Projected 3/31/2023 $ -0- $ 4,436,770 $ 4,436,770
FY 2024 Budget Impact $ -0- $ 2,144,865 $ 2,144,865
Projected to 3/31/2024 $ -0- $ 6,581,635 $ 6,581,635

Explanation of Change: 

The increase in revenue is based on HUD’s preliminary funding projections. Specifically, HUD appears to have included portability billing
in their projections for HACCC’s budget and an increase in Mainstream and Emergency Voucher. The increase in expenditures is a result of
increase in program size as a direct result of absorbing incoming portable voucher, new Mainstream Vouchers, and the continued lease-up
under the Emergency Housing Voucher program. 

Public Housing & Capital Fund Overview: 

HACCC owns and manages 963 public housing units at 13 different sites throughout the County. Revenue to manage these properties is
derived from tenant rents and an operating subsidy received from HUD. Because tenant rents are limited by income, and are significantly
less than the operating costs of the properties, HUD provides a subsidy to supplement the shortfall in actual operating costs versus tenant
rents. HUD also provides annual Capital Fund grants via formula to approximately 3,300 housing authorities. Capital Fund grants may be
used for the development, financing, and modernization of public housing developments as well as for management improvements. 

Public Housing Summary - All Units 

2023-2024 Budget 2022-2023 Budget Change
Revenue $15,313,595 $14,271,196 $ 1,042,399
Expenditures $13,999,029 $12,508,069 $ 1,490,960 
Program Costs, Debt
Service & Other Capital
Improvements

$ 1,498,954 $ 1,497,250 $ 1,704

To Reserves -$ 184,388 $ 265,877
Public Housing by Asset
Management Property (Amp) Area 2023-2024

Revenue
2023-2024
Expenditure

2023-2024
Residual/ - Loss

AMP-1,Ca001,Ca011, Martinez $ 998,652 $ 945,571 $ 53,081 
AMP-2,Ca045a,Ca045b San Pablo $ 1,635,319 $ 1,592,961 $ 42,358

AMP-3,Ca004,Ca008,Ca012 Brentwood,
Oakley $ 1,264,814 $ 1,462,325 -$(197,511)

AMP-4,Ca010 Rodeo $ 3,311,108 $ 3,980,036 -$(668,927)
AMP-5,Ca005 Pittsburg $ 1,998,640 $ 2,192,990 -$(194,350)

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 6



AMP-6,Ca009a,Ca009b North
Richmond $ 390,309 $ 57,088 $ 333,222

AMP-7,Ca006 North
Richmond $ 80,638 $ 4,446 $ 76,192

AMP-8,Ca002,Ca013 Bay Point $ 492,785 $ 690,710 -$(197,925)
AMP-9,Ca003,Ca015 Antioch $ 1,191,763 $ 1,256,155 -$ 64,393)
Capital Funding All AMPS $ 3,949,566 $ 3,315,701 $ 633,865
Program Totals $15,313,595 $15,497,983 -$(184,389)

Public Housing Reserves Restricted Reserve
Balance

Unrestricted Reserve
Balance Reserve Balance

Projected 3/31/23 $0 $2,650,051 $2,650,051
FY 2024 Budget Impact $0 -$ (184,389) -$ (184,389)
Projected to 3/31/24** $0 $ 2,465,662 $2,465,662
** Unrestricted Reserve balance should not be below $2,333,171

Explanation of Change: 

The increase in revenue and expenditures are based on HUD’s preliminary funding projections. The Public Housing unrestricted reserve
level is very close to troubled status. The Authority has been granted operating short fall funding that is not incorporated in the above
estimates in the amount of $672,057 and should be received prior to FYE, thus increasing the projected reserve levels.

Continuum of Care Program: 

The Continuum of Care Program provides rental assistance for hard-to-serve homeless persons with disabilities in connection with
supportive services. HACCC operates the housing and financial portions of the program and Hope Solutions operates the supportive services
and casework portions. The County Health Department provides the matching services requirement. Approximately 280 clients are assisted
under this program.

Continuum of Care
Program 2023-2024 Budget 2022-2023 Budget Change

Revenue $ 6,865,517 $7,591,207 -$ 725,690 
Expenditures $ 703,612 $ 531,460 $ 172,152

Program Costs, Debt
Service & Other Capital
Improvements $ 6,161,905 $7,149,022 -$ 987,117
To Reserves $ -0- -$ 89,275
Continuum of Care
Program Restricted Reserve Bal. Unrestricted Reserve Bal. Reserve Balances

Projected 3/31/23 $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
FY 2024 Budget Impact $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Projected to 3/31/24 $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-

Explanation of Change: 

The primary changes in the Continuum of Care Program related to revenues and program costs are a result of increases in HAP funding. The
increase in expenditures is a direct result of an increase in compliance monitoring.
State and Local Overview: 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 7



State and Local Overview: 

HACCC administers several programs and activities that are either not funded by HUD, or that involve non-restricted HUD funds. HACCC
is the managing general partner for two tax credit projects, DeAnza Gardens and Casa Del Rio. Additionally, under HUD's asset
management regulations, the State and Local fund receives management fees for administering the public housing and HCV programs.
Pension & Other Post-Employment Benefit costs are also reflected in the State and Local fund. 

State & Local Summary 2023-2024 Budget 2022-2023 Budget Change

Revenue $7,958,631 $7,790,482 $ 168,149
Expenditures $7,036,732 $6,351,523 $ 685,209
Program Costs, Debt
Service & Other Capital
Improvements $ 1,752,181 $ 789,730 $ 962,451

To Reserves -$ 830,282 $ 649,229

State & Local Reserves Restricted Reserve Bal. Unrestricted Reserve
Bal. Reserve Balances

Projected 3/31/23 $ 2,828,977 -$ 56,457 $ 2,772,520

FY 2024 Budget Impact -$ 732,409 -$ 97,873 -$ 830,282

Projected to 3/31/24 $ 2,096,568 -$ 154,330

$ 1,942,238< The
projected changes in
revenue and expenses are
primarily a result of the
tax credit properties. The
Reserve Balance reported
does not include the
unfunded Pension and
Other Post-Employment
Benefits (OPEB).

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION
Should the Board of Commissioners choose not adopt Resolution No. 5248 Approving HACCC’s budget for the fiscal year 2023-2024,
HACCC will not be in compliance with HUD regulations. Further, HACCC will not be in compliance in fulfilling its financial and
programmatic obligations to program participants and property owners, as well as to HACCC employees, contractors, and vendors.

ATTACHMENTS
RES 5248 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 8



Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 10 minutes per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data 
sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed,  and completing and reviewing the collection of information. This agency may not collect this information, and you are not required to 
complete this form, unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. 
 
This information is required by Section 6(c)(4) of the U.S. Housing Act of 1937.  The information is the operating budget for the low-income public housing program and provides a 
summary of the proposed/budgeted receipts and expenditures, approval of budgeted receipts and expenditures, and justification of certain specified amounts.  HUD reviews the 
information to determine if the operating plan adopted by the public housing agency (PHA) and the amounts are reasonable, and that the PHA is in compliance with procedures 
prescribed by HUD.  Responses are required to obtain benefits.  This information does not lend itself to confidentiality. 
 

 
PHA Name:                                                             PHA Code:   
 

                                       Board Resolution Number:        
 
Acting on behalf of the Board of Commissioners of the above-named PHA as its Chairperson, I make the following 
certifications and agreement to the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) regarding the Board’s 
approval of (check one or more as applicable): 
             DATE 
 

 Operating Budget approved by Board resolution on:     
 

 Operating Budget submitted to HUD, if applicable, on:      
 

 Operating Budget revision approved by Board resolution on:     
 

 Operating Budget revision submitted to HUD, if applicable, on:     
 
I certify on behalf of the above-named PHA that: 
 
1. All statutory and regulatory requirements have been met; 
 
2. The PHA has sufficient operating reserves to meet the working capital needs of its developments; 
 
3. Proposed budget expenditure are necessary in the efficient and economical operation of the housing for the purpose of 

serving low-income residents; 
 
4. The budget indicates a source of funds adequate to cover all proposed expenditures; 
 
5. The PHA will comply with the wage rate requirement under 24 CFR 968.110(c) and (f); and 
 
6. The PHA will comply with the requirements for access to records and audits under 24 CFR 968.110(i). 
 
I hereby certify that all the information stated within, as well as any information provided in the accompaniment herewith, 
if applicable, is true and accurate. 
 
Warning:  HUD will prosecute false claims and statements.  Conviction may result in criminal and/or civil penalties. (18 
U.S.C. 1001, 1010, 1012.31, U.S.C. 3729 and 3802) 
 
 
Print Board Chairperson’s Name: 
 
      

Signature: Date: 
 
      

 

PHA Fiscal Year Beginning:       

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 9



RECOMMENDATIONS 
RECEIVE report on Partnership for the Bay’s Future grant progress and disposition of North Richmond Las Deltas public housing
development. 

BACKGROUND 
As reported to the Board previously, the Housing Authority (HACCC) is one of the recipients of a 2022-2024 Policy grant from the Partnership
for the Bay’s Future (Partnership). The Partnership was launched in 2019 in collaboration with the community and in response to their needs, the
public-private Partnership is working with community and faith-based leaders, housing experts, elected officials, and residents with the goal of
protecting people already living in affordable homes, and preserving and producing affordable homes to meet the region’s housing needs.

This effort is centered on the understanding that a two-pronged approach is the best way to move the needle on affordable housing – addressing
policy change and investing in affordable housing at the same time. That’s why the Partnership is composed of a policy fund that supports the
creation and implementation of policies to stem the tide of displacement, and a family of loan funds focused on increasing the supply of
affordable homes.

The Partnership’s 2022-2024 grants are the second round ever offered and focus on advancing equitable housing policies. These grants support
eleven government entities in the Bay Area. All are Cities or Counties apart from HACCC and BAHFA (the Bay Area Housing Finance
Authority). Launched in June 2022 and spanning two years, the program will help accelerate policies that preserve and produce affordable
housing. Each entity is partnered with community organizations, which ensures community voices are represented in the policy process. A
housing policy fellow is also embedded in each entity to serve as a catalyst to advance policy innovation.

HACCC partners in this grant are Richmond Our Power Coalition, Community Housing Development Corporation, & Richmond LAND. Our
housing fellow is Hannah Phalen.

Action of Board On:   03/21/2023 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF COMMISSIONERS

Contact:  925-957-8028

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    March  21, 2023 
Joseph Villarreal, Executive Director

 
By: , Deputy

cc:

D.2

  

To: Contra Costa County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners

From: Joseph Villarreal, Housing Authority

Date: March  21, 2023

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: Partnership for the Bay’s Future Grant

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 10



BACKGROUND (CONT'D)
The goals of our partnership are repositioning the Las Deltas public housing project through:

1) A local preference policy.
2) Creating homeownership opportunities for former Las Deltas residents as well as residents of North Richmond with community land
trusts, co-ops and condos as well as more traditional models.
3) Streamlining approvals for Las Deltas.
4) Creating new financial instruments to accomplish this goal.

ATTACHMENTS
Presentation 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 11



Las Deltas Land Sale Process
By the Housing Authority of Contra Costa County

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 12



● Policy grants support 11 

government entities for 2 years

● Each entity is partnered with 

community organizations, 

ensuring community voices are 

represented 

● A housing policy fellow is also 

embedded in each entity to serve 

as a catalyst to advance policy 

innovation

BACKGROUND

A collaborative effort 

focused on advancing 

housing solutions, PBF 

works to:

● produce, preserve, 

and protect 

affordable homes 

in the Bay Area

● ensure our region 

remains a diverse 

place where all 

people are 

welcome and can 

thrive.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 13



North Richmond Policy Grant Team

with support from County Supervisor John Gioia’s office 

+ Coro, Enterprise, LISC, and the San Francisco Foundation
March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 14



Las Deltas Public Housing Site

Was 214 units of 

family public 

housing

134-unit main 

campus, 11.38 acres

[demolished]

80 scattered site 

units (38 duplexes, 

4 single family 

homes)

3 separate processes 
of selling this land

Below Market Value Sales 

($1) of 16 scattered sites –

Request for Qualifications 

(RFQ)

Fair Market Value Sales of 

remaining scattered sites –

(Realtor)

Main Campus – competitive 

process Request For 

Proposals (RFP) later

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 15



AFFORDABLE UNITS FINANCED

City
Total PBVs

RAD + PBV

Total Units in 

Building

Antioch 62 141

San Pablo 10 22

El Cerrito 62 63

Pittsburg 4 14

Pleasant Hill 47 129

Richmond 41 42

Concord 8 16

Walnut Creek 23 45

● HACCC utilized two programs from HUD (RAD and 

Section 18) to transform the public housing subsidies for 

the 214 Las Deltas units into project-based Section 8 

funding that financed 472 affordable housing units 

located in 10 different properties throughout the County

● HACCC expects to fund at least 95 more affordable 

housing units (ideally in North Richmond) as part of this 

phase of the transformation of Las Deltas.

Conversion of Las Deltas

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 16



Below Market Value ($1) Sales of first 16 buildings

Only households making below 80% of the Area Median Income can purchase home on these 

properties for the next 20 years.

Family 

Size

(# of 

persons)

Maximum 

Income to be 

Eligible

(2022)

01 $74,200

02 $84,800

03 $95,400

04 $106,000

05 $114,500

06 $123,000

07 $131,450

08 $139,950

* These limits change every year. 

These numbers are for 2022. By 

2025 when the units are ready, 

they will be different (but likely 

similar)

RFQ released very soon. 501c3 nonprofit developers will be chosen ~July.

RFQ includes goals of the project, selection criteria, and prompts for developers to respond to that 

demonstrate their ability to complete the project affordably and quickly. Developers have 90 days 

to submit their ideas and qualifications.

Selection panel of government staff, housing experts, and North Richmond resident leaders will 

determine the scores of each proposal to pick the top 3-4 ideas to award the sites to.

If HUD approves of the sale, awarded developers will have site control, and will have 3 years (until 

mid-2026) to renovate the units and then sell them as affordable homeownership.

Entities MUST give priority to former public housing residents of Las Deltas, then current and 

former North Richmond residents, and lastly the general public. 

Oakland-Fremont Metropolitan Area

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 17



Market Value Sales

Developers may assign their own income limits 
depending on their mission.

Fair Market Value Sales of remaining 
scattered sites – Realtor, Fall 2023

● HACCC has a contract with a realtor 
to make the sales. Can be sold to 
individuals or developers. Local 
buyers are likely to be prioritized, as 
long as they make a market rate 
offer.

Remaining 52 scattered sites to be 
sold at market value so Housing 
Authority can recuperate lost funds to 
repair remaining public housing units. 

No income limits assigned by HACCC. No time 
limit to re-develop the homes. No HUD 

requirement to be used for housing.

Homes may be bought “as is” by individuals, 
but some are also likely to be bought by 

developers who can rehab them efficiently and 
re-sell as ready-to-move-in.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 18



Main Campus

Because it is a much 
bigger project, the 
timeline for these homes 
are likely to be 5-10+ years 
away from being ready to 
move in.

Competitive process Request For 
Proposals (RFP) in 2024

Longer, more extensive RFP since it is a 
much bigger site and project + another 
selection panel of similar people.

Blank slate. Rental housing, affordable 
homeownership, market rate housing, or a 
mix. May also have commercial uses or 
other amenities on site (community 
center, park, museum, grocery store, etc…)

Developers will submit 
proposals for what to 
build there which will be 
scored and ranked by a 
selection committee.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 19



Summary of Timeline

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 20



Subscribe to newsletter

https://baysfuture.us12.list-manage.com/subscribe?u=85e396dc997bd02830faa55cd&id=e3846ba0cf

Contact with questions

Hannah Phalen hphalen@coronorcal.org

Tony Ucciferri tucciferri@contracostahousing.org

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 21

https://baysfuture.us12.list-manage.com/subscribe?u=85e396dc997bd02830faa55cd&id=e3846ba0cf


RECOMMENDATIONS 
ADOPT Resolution No. 5249, declaring June 19 or “Juneteenth” an official Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa (HACCC) paid
holiday. 

BACKGROUND 
Juneteenth is a federal holiday in the United States commemorating the emancipation of enslaved African Americans. Juneteenth marks the
anniversary of the announcement of General Order No. 3 by Union Army General Gordon Granger on June 19, 1865, proclaiming freedom for
slaves in Texas. Originating in Galveston, the holiday has since been observed annually on June 19 in various parts of the United States, often
broadly celebrating African-American culture. The day was first recognized as a federal holiday on June 17, 2021, when President Joseph
Biden signed the Juneteenth National Independence Day Act into law. 

FISCAL IMPACT 
The Juneteenth Holiday will have an approximate cost of $49,500 per year for all HACCC staff. 

Action of Board On:   03/21/2023 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF COMMISSIONERS

Contact:  925-957-8028

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    March  21, 2023 
Joseph Villarreal, Executive Director

 
By: , Deputy

cc:

C.1

  

To: Contra Costa County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners

From: Joseph Villarreal, Housing Authority

Date: March  21, 2023

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: RESOLUTION NO. 5249 DECLARING JUNE 19 OR "JUNETEENTH" AN OFFICIAL PAID HOLIDAY 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 22



ATTACHMENTS
Resolution No. 5249 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 23



 
 

THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 5249 

 

In the matter of designating June 19th or “Juneteenth” as an official Housing Authority of the County of 

Contra Costa paid holiday: 

WHEREAS, on January 1, 1863, President Abraham Lincoln issued the Emancipation Proclamation, a 

document that declared: “all persons held as slaves within any State or designated part of a State, the people 

whereof shall then be in rebellion against the United States, shall be then, thenceforward, and forever free;” 

and 

WHEREAS, the Emancipation Proclamation, primarily a wartime measure, intentionally excluded people 

in the slave-holding border-states and the areas of the Confederacy that already had come under Union 

control; and 

WHEREAS, on April 9, 1865 General Robert E. Lee surrendered to the United States General Ulysses S. 

Grant at the Appomattox Court House in Virginia, and on April 26, 1865, US Major-General W.T. Sherman 

and General Joseph E. Johnston finalized the terms of surrender agt the Bennett Farm House in Orange 

County [now Durham]; and 

WHEREAS, on June 10, 1865, Major General Gordon Granger was given command of the Department of 

Texas, and on June 19, 1865, two and one-half years after the signing of the Emancipation Proclamation, 

the Union soldiers led by Major General Granger arrived at Galveston, Texas with the long-awaited news 

that the Civil War had ended and that enslaved people were now free; and 

WHEREAS, upon his arrival in Galveston, Major General Granger read General Order Number 3, which 

began: “The people of Texas are informed that in accordance with a Proclamation from the Executive of 

the United States, all slaves are free. This involves an absolute equality of rights and rights of property 

between former masters and slaves, and the connection heretofore existing between them becomes that 

between employer and free laborer”; and 

WHEREAS, Juneteenth – also known as Freedom Day, Jubilee Day, Liberation Day, and Emancipation 

Day – has become a special day among African Americans to celebrate the day when all the enslaved sons 

and daughters of Africa in America realized their freedom; and 

WHEREAS, Juneteenth officially became a federal holiday on June 17, 2021; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners hereby designates June 19 or 

“Juneteenth” as an official Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa paid holiday, thus providing 

the opportunity for employees and the community-at-large to join together with the descendants of enslaved 

Africans to observe the end of slavery and the liberation of all people in the United States of America; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that should June 19 fall on a Saturday, the holiday will be observed on the 

preceding Friday and should June 19 fall on a Sunday, the holiday will be observed on the following 

Monday. 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 24



RECOMMENDATIONS 
RECEIVE the Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa’s investment report for the quarter ending December 31, 2022. 

BACKGROUND 
California Government Code (CGC) Section 53646 requires the Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa (HACCC) to present the
Board of Commissioners with a quarterly investment report that provides a complete description of HACCC’s portfolio. The report is required
to show the issuers, type of investments, maturity dates, par values (equal to market value here) and the current market values of each
component of the portfolio, including funds managed by third party contractors. It must also include the source of the portfolio valuation (in
HACCC’s case it is the issuer). Finally, the report must provide certifications that (1) all investment actions executed since the last report have
been made in full compliance with the Investment Policy and; (2) HACCC will meet its expenditure obligations for the next six months. (CGC
53646(b)). The state-mandated report has been amended to indicate the amount of interest earned and how the interest was allocated. The
amended report is attached.

In summary, HACCC had $28,491.52 in interest earnings for the quarter ending December 31st, 2022. That interest was earned within discrete
programs and most of the interest earned is available only for use within the program which earned the interest. Further, interest earnings may
be restricted to specific purposes within a given program. The Housing Choice Voucher Program reserve as of 12/31/2013 held in cash and
investments was transitioned to HUD held program reserve account. 

Non-restricted interest earnings within both the voucher and public housing programs must be used solely within those programs, but such
interest earnings can be used for a wider range of purposes within the individual programs. The interest earned in the State and Local fund can
be used for any purpose within HACCC’s scope of operations.

The interest earned for the quarter ending December 31st,2022 is shown below. A more detailed report is attached. 

Action of Board On:   03/21/2023 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF COMMISSIONERS

Contact:  925-957-8028

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    March  21, 2023 
Joseph Villarreal, Executive Director

 
By: , Deputy

cc:

C.2

  

To: Contra Costa County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners

From: Joseph Villarreal, Housing Authority

Date: March  21, 2023

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: INVESTMENT REPORT FOR THE QUARTER ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2022

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 25



BACKGROUND (CONT'D)

Public
Housing

Housing Choice Voucher
Fund Central Office State & Local

Unrestricted
Interest
Earned

Restricted
Interest Earned

Unrestricted
Interest
Earned

Unrestricted
Interest Earned

Unrestricted
Interest Earned

$13,619.89 $3,954.51 $10,917.12

FISCAL IMPACT
None. For reporting purposes only.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION
Should the Board of Commissioners elect not to accept the investment report it would result in an audit finding of non-compliance and
could ultimately affect future funding from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).

ATTACHMENTS
Investment Report 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 26



March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 27



March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 28



March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 29



March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 30



RECOMMENDATIONS 
APPROVE and AUTHORIZE the Executive Director to adopt the Continuum of Care Rental Subsidy Program Policies and Procedures for
administration of the program by HACCC and Hope Solutions. 

BACKGROUND 
HACCC had been in a partnership with Contra Costa County’s Department of Health Services to administer the County’s Shelter Plus Care
Program (S+C) through the Shelter Plus Care grant (S+C grant) for approximately 25 years. The Shelter Plus Care (S+C) Program provides a
variety of permanent housing choices, accompanied by a range of supportive services. The S+C grant provides homeless and disabled persons
housing through either tenant-based rental assistance (TBRA) or project-based rental assistance (PBRA). 

Through the Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing Act (HEARTH Act), the S+C program was reinvented in 2015
and became known as the Continuum of Care Rental Subsidy Program (COCRSP). The name change did not dramatically alter the S+C
program. HACCC has received approximately $1.8 million each year to house approximately 300 households under the various COCRSPs. A
maximum of 10% of that amount is carved out for administrative costs and is used to pay for the staffing and administrative costs of operating
the program for both HACCC and its subrecipient. In addition, the grantee is required to provide 25% of the grant funding as in-kind or cash
match for services to the program participants. To date, this match has included staff and administrative expenses as well as unreimbursed
services through the County’s Health Services. 

On March 8, 2022, this Board approved a contract with Contra Costa Interfaith Transitional Housing, also known as Hope Solutions’ (Hope
Solutions) to replace the County’s Health, Housing and Homeless Services department as the subgrantee for the program’s administration.
HACCC has been working closely with Hope Solutions for several years in its capacity as a housing provider and, most recently, as the housing
navigation team for the Emergency Housing Voucher program previously brought before HACCC’s Board of Commissioners. Over the course
of the past 12 months, HACCC and Hope Solutions have worked in partnership to administer the COCRSP. Part of that collaboration involved
drafting up new policies and procedures to guide each agency’s day to day operations. HUD has requested that the Board approve the new
policies and procedures drafted up by HACCC and Hope Solutions. 

Action of Board On:   03/21/2023 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF COMMISSIONERS

Contact:  925-957-8028

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    March  21, 2023 
Joseph Villarreal, Executive Director

 
By: , Deputy

cc:

C.3

  

To: Contra Costa County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners

From: Joseph Villarreal, Housing Authority

Date: March  21, 2023

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: APPROVAL OF THE CONTINUUM OF CARE RENTAL SUBSIDY PROGRAM POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR
ADMINISTRATION OF THE PROGRAM BY HACCC AND HOPE SOLUTIONS

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 31



BACKGROUND (CONT'D)
This action is being brought before the Board to approve the drafted policies and procedures pursuant to HUD’s request.

FISCAL IMPACT
There is no fiscal impact for this action. It is a policy administration issue.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION
If the Board fails to a approve the new policies and procedures, HACCC will not be in compliance with the HUD directive and is subject to
audit findings and sanction of the Continuum of Care Rental Subsidy Program funding. As a result, HACCC will not be in a position to
continue to provide assistance to participants of the CoC’s rental subsidy program.

ATTACHMENTS
RAP Policies & Procedures 
HOPE Policies & Procedures 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 32



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

1 
 

Introduction  

 

The Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa’s (HACCC) Continuum of Care Rental 

Assistance Program (CoC-RAP or RAP) is designed to link rental assistance with supportive 

services for homeless persons with disabilities (primarily chronic mental illness, substance abuse 

and HIV/AIDS) and their families. CoC-RAP is one of the few programs administered by 

HACCC in which applicants do not come from one of the agency’s wait lists. Instead, CoC-RAP 

applicants are referred via the Coordinated Entry System (CES). 

 

CoC-RAP is authorized by subtitle C of title IV of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance 

Act, as amended by S.896, the Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to 

Housing (HEARTH) Act of 2009. Current regulations governing CoC programs are found in the 

CoC Program Interim Rule at 24 CFR part 578. 

 

24 CFR part 578.1 of the CoC Program Interim Rule states the primary purpose of the CoC 

Program is to: 

 

1. Promote community-wide commitment to the goal of ending homelessness. 

 

2. Provide funding for efforts by nonprofit providers, States, and local governments 

 to quickly re-house homeless individuals (including unaccompanied youth) and 

 families, while minimizing the trauma and dislocation caused to homeless 

 individuals, families, and communities by homelessness. 

 

3. Promote access to, and effective utilization of, mainstream programs by homeless 

 individuals and families. 

 

4. Optimize self-sufficiency among individuals and families experiencing 

 homelessness. 

 

Administrative Structure 

 

HACCC is the grant recipient for the CoC-RAP funds and is responsible for the overall 

management of the program. HACCC’s primary service partner for the program is HOPE 

Solutions, while Contra Costa County’s Health, Housing and Homeless Services Division (H3) 

provides entry to the program along with matching services.  

 

HACCC is responsible for: (1) developing and implementing CoC-RAP policies and procedures 

in accordance with HUD's regulations and guidance; (2) managing all aspects of the participants' 

housing assistance, including conducting eligibility determinations, annual recertification's, 

inspections, calculating tenant rent and HAP payments, and paying landlords; (3) managing  

grant funds, including informing partners when a new certificate can be issued and conducting 

monthly draws through HUD's LOCCS system; (4) maintaining relevant data on program 

participants; (5) coordinating with HOPE Solutions and any other service provider agencies 

providing services to CoC-RAP participants; (6) monitoring the accuracy of the information 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 33



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

2 
 

supplied by H3, HOPE Solutions and any other service providers, and (7) maintaining client’s 

information confidentially and securely. 

 

HOPE Solutions is responsible for services such case management and housing search 

assistance, entry, and maintenance of information in HUD’s HMIS system as well as compiling 

HUD's Annual Progress Report (APR).  

 

H3 administers the CoC’s CES. The CES determines initial applicant entry to the CoC-RAP 

program. H3 is also responsible for providing the required 25% service match for the CoC-RAP 

program. The match will be provided via mental health, medical and emergency services 

provided by the County to CoC-RAP participants.  

 

Governing Documents 

 

Where CoC-RAP utilizes policies and procedures that are the same as those documented in the 

Housing Choice Voucher Administrative Plan (Admin Plan), such as the rules governing housing 

quality standards inspections, HACCC will utilize the policies and procedures laid out in the 

Admin Plan. If there is a conflict between the CoC program regulations and the Admin Plan, the 

CoC program regulations have precedence.  

 

In addition to the CoC-RAP Policies and Procedures herein, HACCC’s RAP program is governed 

by HOPE Solutions’ Continuum of Care Rental Assistance Program (Shelter Plus Care) Policies 

and Procedures. This document was developed in conjunction with HACCC. HOPE Solutions’ 

policies and procedures for RAP will be amended to this document and are thereby included as 

part of HACCC’s program. As with the Admin Plan, the only exception would be where there is 

a conflict between any of HOPE Solutions’ policies and procedures and HACCC’s or with HUD’s 

regulations. In the first case, the Admin Plan would have precedence, in the second, the CoC 

program regulations would take precedence.  

 

The Admin Plan is approved by the Board of Commissioners (BOC) at least annually and the RAP 

Policies and Procedures will be included as an amendment to that document. 

 

Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity Policy 

 

HACCC and any CoC-RAP service providers will abide by HACCC’s Fair Housing and Equal 

Opportunity Policy detailed in Chapter 2 of the HCV Administrative Plan as well as all 

applicable laws and regulations.  

 

Where a RAP recipient encounters a condition or action that impedes fair housing choice, 

HACCC will provide such information to the jurisdiction that provided the certification of 

consistency with the Consolidated Plan.  

 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 34



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

3 
 

Reasonable Accommodation Policy 

 

HACCC’s Reasonable Accommodation Policy, detailed in Chapter 2 of the Admin Plan will 

apply to RAP.  

 

Participation of Homeless Individuals on HACCC’s Board 

 
HUD regulations at 24 CFR 578.75(g)(1) and 24 CFR 578.75(g)(2) require the participation of homeless 

individuals on the policymaking body for the CoC-RAP grant. Specifically, they say the following: 

(1) Each recipient and subrecipient must provide for the participation of not less than one 

homeless individual or formerly homeless individual on the board of directors or other 

equivalent policymaking entity of the recipient or subrecipient, to the extent that such entity 

considers and makes policies and decisions regarding any project, supportive services, or 

assistance provided under this part. This requirement is waived if a recipient or subrecipient 

is unable to meet such requirement and obtains HUD approval for a plan to otherwise consult 

with homeless or formerly homeless persons when considering and making policies and 

decisions.  

(2) Each recipient and subrecipient of assistance under this part must, to the maximum extent 

practicable, involve homeless individuals and families through employment; volunteer 

services; or otherwise in constructing, rehabilitating, maintaining, and operating the project, 

and in providing supportive services for the project. 

However, CA state law dictates the composition of HACCC’s Board. Specifically, the CA Health and 

Safety Code includes what is known as the Housing Authorities Law. Among other things, the Housing 

Authorities Law dictates the composition of a housing authority’s Board of Commissioners (BOC). For a 

County, the law says the following: 

34271.  When the governing body of a county adopts such a resolution it shall appoint five 

persons as commissioners of the authority. The governing body shall appoint two additional 

commissioners who are tenants of the authority if the authority has tenants, or within one year 

after the authority first does have tenants. One such tenant commissioner shall be over 62 years of 

age if the authority has tenants of such age. 

The amendments to this section enacted by the Legislature at the 1975–76 Regular Session shall 

not affect the office of any commissioner of a housing authority, which on January 1, 1976, has 

seven commissioners, but the successors to the two additional commissioners appointed pursuant 

to the changes in this section which were made by Chapter 120 of the Statutes of 1972 or Chapter 

545 of the Statutes of 1974 shall be tenants of the authority and one shall be over 62 years of age 

if the authority has tenants of such age. 

(Amended by Stats. 1975, Ch. 611.) 

CA law, therefore, restricts HACCC’s BOC to seven commissioners. No more, no less. 

Because the County Board of Supervisors (BOS) has appointed themselves as HACCC’s non-tenant BOC 

members, HACCC cannot recruit specifically for a homeless/formerly homeless person to sit in one of 

these seats on the BOC. Likewise, because CA state law requires that any of HACCC’s tenants can sit on 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 35



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

4 
 

the BOC (provided one is over 62 years of age), HACCC cannot recruit specifically for a 

homeless/formerly homeless person to sit in one of these seats either.  

As a result, HACCC will do its best to solicit tenant Commissioners who have experience with 

homelessness. If HACCC has no BOC members who have experience with homelessness, HACCC will 

seek a HUD waiver to this requirement. The regulation states that the requirement to have a “homeless 

individual or formerly homeless individual on the board of directors or other equivalent policymaking 

entity” can be “waived if a recipient or subrecipient is unable to meet such requirement and obtains HUD 

approval for a plan to otherwise consult with homeless or formerly homeless persons when considering 

and making policies and decisions.”   

Both the Council on Homelessness (which governs the CoC) and HOPE Solutions’ Board have 

members who are either homeless or previously homeless. 

 

Application Process 

 

HACCC does not accept applications for the CoC-RAP program. All CoC-RAP applicants will 

be referred via the CoC’s Coordinated Entry System to HOPE Solutions and, if eligible and there 

are RAP funding available, HOPE Solutions will then refer that applicant to HACCC.  

 

A. HACCC will receive the following documentation from HOPE Solutions: 

 

1. A completed CoC application form; 

 

2. Signed Verification of Homelessness along with documentation certifying the 

 applicant’s homelessness status; 

 

3. Documentation of a disabling condition which is substantiated by a doctor or 

 licensed clinician.  

 

4.  Income verification for all adults in the household; 

 

5. Photocopy of unexpired identification and social security card for all adults; 

 

6. Signed Program Agreement; 

 

7. Signed Consent and Authorization for the Release of Information; 

 

8. Current Service Plan. 

 

B. Upon receipt of the referral application, the CoC Manager will: 

 

1. Log the receipt of the referral and supporting documents in Yardi 

 

2. Review the application to confirm eligibility (see " Eligibility Determination and 

 Approval”) 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 36



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

5 
 

3. Refer the applicant to the Housing Authority of Contra Costa County (HACCC) 

 for the issuance of a CoC certificate (not a voucher) (see ''Leasing Procedures"). 

 

4. Coordinate with agencies and persons involved in the participant's housing search 

 and placement into housing, including Housing Authority staff. 

 

Referrals will only be accepted from HOPE Solutions via the CES. There are no "self' referrals to 

the program, or referrals from any other agency.  Referrals can be submitted by either secure 

email or fax to HACCC.  

 

Eligibility Determination and Approval 

 

Eligibility determinations are made by HACCC’s Director of Assisted Housing or a designee. 

The Director or their designee will review each referral for completeness and will determine 

eligibility based on the following factors: 

 

i. Verification of homelessness (completed and signed Homeless Verification form); 

ii.  Qualifying disability (completed and signed Disability Verification form and/or  

  SSA award letter); 

iii.  Verification of income eligibility (review of income verification documentation, 

such as benefits letter, pay stubs, letter from employer); 

iv.  Signed Service Provider Agreement between participant and HOPE solutions or 

any other eligible service provider. 

 

HACCC may review the information in the applicant’s referral materials to assess their ability to 

live independently. HACCC may require adjustments to the applicant’s service plan that support 

the applicant’s ability to navigate RAP successfully.  

 

Certificate Issuance 

 

Eligible RAP applicants will be given a briefing that covers the rules of the program, how rent is 

calculated, tenant responsibilities, etc. Applicants will then be issued a Request for Tenancy 

Approval and issued a certificate with a 60-day timeline to find rental housing. The 60 days 

begins on the date of the briefing. If the applicant is unable to find housing during this initial 

period, they can receive an extension for an additional 60 days provided they have maintained 

contact with their housing navigator and they have actively been seeking housing.  

 

RAP certificates may be extended beyond 120 days if the client continues to follow their service 

agreement and actively seeks housing. If a client asks for more than 120 days to find housing, 

they will be referred to HACCC’s CoC Manager for approval of their request. HACCC’s CoC 

Manager will verify whether funding is still available, and if the client is following their service 

agreement and actively seeking housing.  The CoC Manager or their designee will give a written 

response to the extension request. 

 

 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 37



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

6 
 

Rental Assistance and Leasing Policies and Procedures 

 

CoC-RAP assistance is in the form of a certificate, not a voucher. The certificate is not portable 

outside of Contra Costa County (moves to Pittsburg are allowed). 

 

HACCC will calculate tenant rent as outlined in HUD Notice CPD-96-03 and 24 CFR Part 5 and 

578. The rental subsidy is based upon the monthly income of the household. The household will 

contribute approximately 30% of their adjusted income for rent or a $50.00 minimum rent, 

whichever is higher. HACCC staff will verify each household's income and determine the 

amount of their rental obligation. Both the participant’s portion of the rent and HACCC’s 

subsidy portion of the rent are paid directly to the landlord. 

 

Eligible Units 

 

RAP clients will rent units in the private market that meet the following guidelines: 

 

1. All units assisted by CoC program funds must meet applicable housing quality 

standards (HQS) under 24 CFR 982.401. Assistance will not be provided for units 

that fail to meet HQS, unless the owner corrects any deficiencies within 30 days 

from the date of the initial inspections.  All units must be inspected at least 

annually to ensure compliance with HQS. 

 

2. Dwelling units must be of suitable size for the household.  The dwelling unit must 

have at least one bedroom for each two persons. Other allowances will be made as 

documented in HACCC’s Admin Plan. 

 

3. The rent charged for dwelling units must be deemed reasonable in relation with 

comparable unassisted units. A reasonable rent is determined by considering 

location, size, type, amenities, facilities, and the management and maintenance of 

each unit.   

 

Lease 

 

RAP participants must enter into an initial lease agreement for a term of at least one year. Per 

state law, leases will be automatically renewed, upon expiration, monthly unless the property 

owner and participant sign a new, longer-term lease. 

 

Security Deposits 

 

Property owners can request a security deposit in accord with state law. CoC-RAP grant funds 

may be used for security deposits (24 CFR 578.51 (a) (2)). RAP participants may receive a one-

time only grant from HACCC to cover up to one month's rent of their security deposit. If a 

participant needs help paying their security deposit, their service coordinator will assist them 

with a written request to HACCC for a security deposit grant. HACCC’s RAP staff will review 

the grant request. If granted, the payment will be made directly to the landlord.  In the event the 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 38



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

7 
 

client relocates, the landlord shall make the deposit refund payable to the client. The client will 

be responsible for any subsequent security deposit requirements. 

 

Household Composition 

 

Participants must submit a written request to HACCC if they wish to add household members 

apart from those who were approved with the participant's initial application. Other than the birth 

of a child after their enrollment in RAP, any requests from participants to add individuals to their 

household must be approved by HACCC.  

 

To be approved to add additional persons to the household, the client must be in good standing in 

the program, and the additional person(s) must be related by blood, marriage (including 

significant others/domestic partners, etc.), or operation of law. HACCC may require the 

household to substantiate a stable relationship that has existed for at least six months with the 

individual(s) they are requesting to add. Prior to approving a request to add someone to his or her 

household, HACCC will require the participant to provide a letter of support for the addition 

from their primary service provider. If the participant is currently under a lease agreement, the 

participant must also obtain the approval of their landlord to add more household members to 

their lease, and they must provide all the required documentation to HACCC for the new 

household members, including identification, proof of income and satisfactory completion of all 

requirements for the change in household composition as detailed in HACCC’s HCV 

Administrative Plan.  

 

Live-in Aide 

 

A live-in aide will be permitted where needed by a RAP participant. HACCC will follow the 

procedures laid out in its Admin Plan when considering live-in aide requests. The Participant’s 

Service Coordinator and the landlord/property owner must also agree to the request. The live-in 

aide will not have any rights to the RAP certificate if the participant(s) leaves the program for 

any reason. 

 

Annual Recertifications 

 

Income verification and household composition will be reviewed at least annually. The process 

will follow the recertification process outlined in the Admin Plan. Adjustments to the 

Participant’s contributions towards rent will be made as changes are identified. 

 

Requests to Relocate 

 

RAP participants are expected to remain in a unit for at least 12 months before they can transfer 

to another unit. Exceptions will be made for VAWA or other instances where there are serious 

safety concerns, for problems with the participant's unit which are out of the participant's control, 

in response to approved reasonable accommodation requests, in the event that there are changes 

in the participant’s household that change the bedroom size of their RAP certificate, or where 

there is mutual agreement between the property owner and the client to terminate the lease.  

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 39



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

8 
 

HACCC must approve any participant's request to relocate prior to the participant being issued a 

transfer certificate. Approval of a transfer will be conditional upon verification that the client is 

participating in their service plan and is otherwise in good standing in the program.  

 

Temporary Leave for Treatment 

 

Participants may choose to retain their unit for up to 90 days while they complete a residential 

treatment program. The rental assistance will be provided for up to 90 days, and the participant 

will remain obligated for paying their portion of the rent. 

 

Survivor Benefits 

 

If a RAP participant dies and there are surviving members of the household over the age of 18, 

rental assistance will be provided for up to 90 days. During this period, a determination will be 

made as to whether a surviving household member qualifies for ongoing assistance under RAP. 

If one or more of the surviving members can provide verification to HACCC/HOPE Solutions 

that they meet the disability criteria and are willing to receive appropriate services, they will 

have the opportunity to be enrolled in the program and continue to receive the RAP rental 

subsidy. If they do not qualify for RAP, HACCC will notify the surviving member(s) that the 

RAP assistance will be terminated 30 days after this determination has been made. Live-in aides 

are not considered surviving members of the household and are not eligible to received continued 

assistance under RAP. 

 

Stable Income Requirement 

 

As part of their required service plan, RAP Participants are expected to develop a plan for 

obtaining and/or maintaining a stable income to help ensure their long-term housing stability. If a 

RAP participant loses their income source(s), their Service Coordinator will follow-up with the 

participant to update their plan.   

 

Outstanding Debt 

 

When a client has an outstanding debt to any housing authority from a previous tenancy, the debt 

must either be paid in full before the client can be enrolled in RAP program or the client must be 

receiving services such as money management to assist them in fulfilling their financial 

obligations. They must also enter into, and continue to follow, a repayment agreement with the 

housing authority to which they owe money. 

 

If a client incurs debt to HACCC while enrolled in RAP, a payment plan must be negotiated. 

Claims for damages at one property must be settled before a client will be allowed to transfer to 

another unit. 

 

Service Coordination 

 

HOPE Solutions serves as RAP participant’s primary support service coordinator. HOPE 

Solutions’ Continuum of Care Rental Assistance Program (Shelter Plus Care) Policies and 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 40



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

9 
 

Procedures outlines the approach that will be used in providing supportive services to RAP 

clients.  

 

HOPE Solutions’ Service Coordinators are responsible for notifying HACCC in a timely manner 

when concerns arise regarding a client's behavior that may jeopardize their housing, including 

when the client is no longer participating in services and has not responded to outreach efforts 

for more than 30 days. 

 

All exchanges of information about program participants between agencies and housing 

providers must comply with applicable Federal, State, and local statutes, ordinances, regulations, 

and requirements. Upon enrollment into the program, each participant must sign a Release of 

Information permitting both HACCC and HOPE Solutions staff to communicate freely as needed 

to provide housing and services via RAP. This will also include the ability of both HOPE 

Solutions and HACCC to collect information concerning match from Contra Costa Health 

Services. 

 

Terminations and Appeals 

 

Policies and procedures concerning termination of RAP clients and their appeal rights are 

outlined in HOPE Solutions’ RAP Policies and Procedures. RAP participants may appeal such 

decisions made by HOPE Solutions to HACCC. In considering such appeals, HACCC will first 

rely on staff to conduct an administrative review. If the situation warrants, or if the client wishes 

to appeal HACCC’s decision, a hearing with HACCC’s outside Hearing Officer will be 

scheduled. The Hearing Officer’s decision will be final. 

 

Financial Management 

 

Financial management for the Continuum of Care (CoC) program will be the responsibility of 

HACCC’s Finance Department (FD).  HACCC utilizes software developed by YARDI.  This 

software allows for accounting by grant and by program.  All accounting functions are fully 

integrated – receivable, payable, payroll, and general ledger adjustment.   

 

FD staff consists of the Chief Financial Officer, Management/Financial Analysts, an Accounting 

Supervisor, and several Senior Account Clerks.  The Senior Account Clerks report to the 

Accounting Supervisor.  The Accounting Supervisor and the Management/Financial Analysts 

report to the Chief Financial Officer.  The Chief Financial Officer reports to the Executive 

Director.  All members of the FD have the skills, knowledge and experience to perform the 

duties of their position.  Not all members of the FD have duties that include activities of the CoC 

program.   

 

The purpose of HACCC’s CoC program is to provide rental assistance to eligible participants of 

the program.  The budget line items applicable to the HACCC’s CoC program are: 

 

• Rental Assistance (approx. 92%) – both tenant-based and project-based 

• Supportive Services (approx. 7%) – provided through a subrecipient 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 41



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

10 
 

• Administrative Costs (approx. 4%) 

 

Activities performed by the Finance Department for the CoC program are as follows: 

 

A. Grant tracking (typically performed by the Management Analyst): 

1. The Finance Department receives notice from the Executive Department of the 

existence of a new CoC grant.   

2. Spreadsheets are developed to track grant activity.   

3. Activity is tracked for each grant.   

4. Regulations are reviewed to determine eligible costs.  24 CFR 578 Subpart D. 

(i) Rental assistance consists of (1) HAP payment made to landlords on behalf of 

program participants, (2) utility reimbursement payments made to program 

participants, (3) tenant security deposits, (4) vacancy loss, (5) damages, (6) 

office supplies directly related to carrying out the rental assistance activities, 

and (7) staff costs directly related to carrying out the rental assistance 

activities eligible under 24 CFR 578.51. 

(ii) Supportive services consist of (1) case management services necessary to 

assist program participants obtain and maintain housing, (2) office supplies 

directly related to carrying out the supportive services, (3) staff costs directly 

related to carrying out the supportive services activities eligible under 24 CFR 

578.53, and (4) other allowable costs as described in 24 CFR 578.53. 

(iii) Administrative costs consist of (1) planning activities, (2) general 

management, oversight and coordination, and (3) overhead.  The Authority 

maintains its books of accounts under HUD’s Asset Management directives, 

utilizing the central office cost center (COCC) model.  As such, the staff costs 

of supervisory positions are expensed to the COCC.  A portion of these COCC 

costs are allocated to the CoC program based on its proportion of direct salary 

charges.  Overhead is charged to the CoC program up to, or less than, the 

budget allowed.  Excess overhead costs, if any, are absorbed by the COCC. 

5. Eligible costs are summarized by grant, month, budget-line-item (BLI), and 

description. 

6. Monthly analysis is performed to determine the amount of grant funds necessary to be 

drawn. 

7. On a regular basis, current leasing utilization and projected leasing availability is 

updated and provided to the HACCC CoC program staff for further analysis. 

 

B. Eligible Cost monitoring:  The Finance Department refers to the signed CoC grants to 

determine the allowable activities for each grant.  Subsequently, 24 CFR 578 Subpart D, 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 42



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

11 
 

which defines possible CoC program component and eligible costs, will be referenced to 

determine eligible costs for each activity.  HACCC has elected not to use the 10% de 

minimus indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance.  The various types of 

costs will be monitored as follows: 

 

1. RENTAL ASSISTANCE BLI 

 

a. Monthly rental assistance – Rental assistance consists of payments made on a 

monthly basis to landlords on behalf of the CoC participants.  Rental 

assistance may also include utility allowance payments made directly to CoC 

participants.  These payments are determined by the HACCC’s CoC program 

staff utilizing the HACCC’s YARDI software.  Calculations are prepared no 

less frequently than annually.  The HACCC’s CoC program staff collect 

information from the CoC participant regarding their income and household 

composition.  Using this information, the monthly rental assistance amounts 

are calculated.  The software is 50058 driven. Information is put into the 

Yardi system and a 50058 is generated.  The 50058 is approved by the 

HACCC CoC program staff.  Staff in the position for less than 12 months 

must have the 50058 approved by a supervisor.  More experienced staff 

approve their own work.  Once an approved 50058 enters the system, the 

Finance Department has authorization to pay the monthly rental assistance.   

 

b. On a monthly basis, the Senior Account Clerk responsible for CoC program 

rental assistance payments, generates a subsidy report from the YARDI 

software.  The report is reviewed for unusual entries, unusual dates, new 

landlords, etc.  Holds are placed on unusual entries, with no supporting 

documentation.  HAP are processed.  Check or EFT registers are reviewed and 

approved by the CFO.  Prior to the release of the checks/EFTs, the 

Accounting Supervisor reviews the totals to determine cash flow.  The 

Accounting Supervisor releases the EFTs.  Checks are handed off to a service 

for mailing. 

 

c. Adjustment to monthly rental assistance – Occasionally rental assistance is 

processed for a period less than one month (move-in, move-out, other 

adjustment).  These types of transactions are submitted to the Finance 

Department with further support approved by the HACCC CoC program staff.  

These transactions are processed and reviewed by Financial Department staff 

manually.  Payment is held, if not properly supported and approved.  These 

holds are placed on an electronic hold for the CoC program staff to review and 

correct.  Meetings are held weekly to resolve discrepancies. 

 

d. The responsibilities of the mid-month rental assistance check/EFT runs are 

similar to the first-of-the-month runs.  Please see number 1 above.  These 

transactions will be further supported by the information as noted in the prior 

paragraph. 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 43



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

12 
 

e. Security deposit assistance and property damage reimbursement – These 

transactions are less frequent.  The CoC Program staff use a manual check 

request to begin the process for payment.  The check request must be 

approved by appropriate CoC program staff.  These transactions are processed 

and reviewed by Financial Department staff manually.  Payment is held, if not 

properly supported and approved.  These holds are placed on an electronic 

hold for the CoC program staff to review and correct.  Meetings are held 

weekly to resolve discrepancies. 

 

f. The responsibilities of the mid-month rental assistance check/EFT runs are 

similar to the first-of-the-month runs.  Please see number 1 above.  These 

transactions will be further supported by the information as noted in the prior 

paragraph. 

 

g. Unit inspections – HACCC contracts with a third party to provide annual HQS 

inspections of the leased units.  The portion of these invoices directly related 

to the CoC leased units is charged to these grants.  These costs are considered 

part of the rental assistance BLI for these grants.  The activity documented on 

these invoices is approved by the Director of Assisted Housing prior to 

payment by the Finance Department. 

 

h. The FD processes vendor checks on a weekly basis from properly approved 

and coded vendor invoices.  Payments are not made from vendor statements.  

Check processing is conducted by one of several Senior Account Clerks.  

Processing is completed through check preparation, at which time the checks, 

along with all of the support, is handed off to the Accounting Supervisor or 

CFO for review.  If one of the checks does not pass the review, the support is 

pulled and the check voided.  Initials are placed on the payment summary 

report to document approval.  The payment summary report is retained in a 

binder.  Support for vendor invoices is filed by check number in the FD.  

Checks are handed off to a service for mailing. 

 

i. HACCC staff costs – A portion of staff costs is charged directly to the CoC 

grants.  These costs are supported by timecards initiated by staff and approved 

by a supervisor.  Staff directly charged to the program are typically those 

associated with the delivery of rental assistance and are charged to the rental 

assistance BLI.  These staff members include those tasked with HAP payment 

processing and 50058 processing. 

 

j. Payroll is conducted by a Senior Account Clerk dedicated to payroll and 

payroll benefit processing.  The Human Resource Officer works closely with 

the FD to communicate changes.  Each employee is assigned to a home 

program to which their costs will routinely be charged.  This home program is 

based on their job title and description.  An employee can communicate work 

done out of their home program through the electronic time sheet processing 

system.  Time sheets are approved by the employee and supervisor prior to 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 44



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

13 
 

submission to the FD for processing.  Payroll processing is reviewed and 

approved by the CFO prior to payment.  Further analysis is performed by the 

Management Analyst monthly. 

 

2. ADMINISTRATION BLI 

 

a. HACCC staff costs – A portion of the costs associated with HACCC staff 

involved in the overall program management, coordination, monitoring, and 

evaluation are charged to the CoC grants.  Staff assigned to administration have a 

portion of their costs charged to CoC grants according to the proportion of their 

CoC supervisory and administration responsibilities related to their other assigned 

programs.  These costs are charged to the Administration BLI. 

 

b. Central office cost center (COCC) – A portion of HACCC’s COCC is charged to 

the CoC grants.  The administration of HACCC is captured as costs of the COCC.  

A portion of these costs, based on the direct salary of all non-administrative staff 

members, is allocated to the CoC grants as overhead.  These costs are associated 

with the administrative labor, systems, etc. provided by the central office to the 

HACCC’s programs.  These costs are charged to the Administration BLI. 

 

c. Subrecipient administrative costs – HACCC contracts with a subrecipient to 

administer overall CoC program management, coordination, monitoring, and 

evaluation.  The subrecipient requests quarterly reimbursement for the costs 

incurred for these services.  These invoices are submitted to HACCC’s CoC 

program administrator for reimbursement through a quarterly billing process that 

includes summarized costs, system reports, and timecards.  These invoices are 

reviewed for allowability, reasonableness, necessity to the program, compliance 

with agreements, and the adequacy of supporting documentation.  A memo 

documenting the review done and the conclusions made with regards to payment 

request will be completed and attached to the invoice.  The invoice is approved 

for payment only when sufficient support has been obtained.  Once the invoice 

has been approved, it is submitted to the Finance Department for payment 

processing.  These costs are charged either to the Administration BLI or 

Supportive Service BLI, as appropriate. 

 

3. SUPPORTIVE SERVICES BLI 

 

a. Supportive services (when applicable) – Not all of the CoC grants contain 

authority to incur supportive service costs.  These costs are typically incurred by 

the subrecipient and invoiced as noted above.  These costs are incurred to address 

the special needs of CoC program participants.  For more detail regarding the 

costs allowable under supportive services please see 24 CFR 578.53.  Examples 

of costs include case management, mental health services, and utility deposits. 

 

C. Grant draw process:  Draws are the responsibility of the HACCC Management Analyst.  

Draws are conducted through the HUD LOCCS system.  Draws are performed no less 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 45



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

14 
 

often than monthly.  Draws are performed when supported by either specific payments of 

eligible costs or a full reconciliation of grant-to-date costs vs. grant-to-date draws.  Draws 

are typically performed after costs have been incurred and disbursed.  At no time are 

draws made and held more than 3 days prior to disbursement.   

 

D. Matching requirements and monitoring:  24 CFR 578.73 – match is required for all CoC 

program grant funds, except for leasing funds, in an amount of no less than 25%.  

HACCC does not engage in leasing activities.  The majority of HACCC’s CoC grant 

funds are used for rental assistance.  24 CFR 578.49 defines leasing as the activity of 

leasing structure(s) to house participants.  24 CFR 578.51 defines rental assistance as 

allowing the participant to select housing within other specifications, such as size and 

geographical location.  HACCC’s match is provided by the Contra Costa Health, 

Housing, and Homeless Services (H3).  

 

1. At the beginning of each grant, HACCC enters into an MOU for Match with its 

subrecipient and H3 wherein the subrecipient agrees to provide no less than the 25% 

required matching from various forms of in-kind services.  The types of services are 

stated in the agreement. 

 

2. The majority of these services are health services and mental health services provided 

by the County through their health care system.  This system includes a County-run 

hospital, as well as a number of local clinics.   

 

3. On a quarterly basis, HACCC receives a match report from H3.  This report shows 

match for the period compared with the maximum match required by the grant(s).  

The reports include a summary page, as well as detail.  The detail page documents 

services provided on behalf of CoC program participants, fees for services provided, 

reimbursements received from other sources for the fees, and the final unreimbursed 

amounts for the services provided.  The final unreimbursed amount is considered by 

the subrecipient to be counted as match for the grants.   

 

4. The funds used to cover the unreimbursed medical costs vary by type of service.  

Hospital fees are covered using the County’s general fund.  Mental Health services 

are covered using funds from CalMHSA.  Ambulance fees are covered using funds 

from the CCC Fire Protection District EMS.  

  

5. The Finance Department reviews this report for consistency, detail, and 

reasonableness.  The report includes information easily verifiable by reviewing 

published fees for services.  Other information is privileged by HIPAA regulations 

and is not easily verified. 

 

6. On an annual basis, the Finance Department will perform monitoring of the match 

reports supplied by the subrecipient.  Monitoring will consist of randomly selecting 

services provided from the supplied list and tracing the amounts to more detailed 

documentation kept by the County.  Sample size will be based on professional 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 46



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

15 
 

judgement.  Sample size will be expanded if discrepancies are noted.  See also the 

detailed Match Monitoring memo. 

  

E. Financial reporting:  Annually the Financial Department reports financial information to 

HUD REAC in accordance with Uniform Financial Reporting Standards.  This financial 

information includes the CoC program information under CFDA # 14.267.  The CFO is 

responsible for the accuracy and timeliness of this reporting requirement. 

 

Grant Administration 
 

HMIS System 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

The Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) is a local information technology 

system used to collect client-level data and data on the provision of housing and services to 

homeless individuals and families and persons at risk of homelessness. As a CoC grant recipient, 

HACCC is responsible for ensuring that participant data is entered into HMIS. For the RAP 

program, HOPE Solutions will enter all required data into HMIS on behalf of HACCC. 

 

APR Submission 

 

As required by 24 CFR 578.104(e) and 2 CFR Section 200.328(b), recipients of CoC grants must 

collect and report client data in an Annual Performance Report (APR). APRs are due to HUD 90-

days after the grant period ends. APR data is compiled from the following sources: 

 

i. HMIS system (for data on participant demographics, income changes, and 

services received) 

ii. Service match documentation (for calculation of service match) 

iii. Participant case records (for tracking of participant outcomes) 

  

As with HMIS submissions, HOPE Solutions will provide all required APR data to HUD on 

behalf of HACCC. 

 

Environmental Review 

 

As required at 24 CFR 578.31(a), the RAP program is subject to environmental review by HUD 

under 24 CFR part 50. 

 

Additional Federal Requirements for PSH Programs 
 

The following policies will be followed by PSH Programs as required by Federal Law. 

 

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing 

 

The RAP program will provide housing and supportive services to eligible persons regardless 

of race, color, national origin, religion, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, age, familial 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 47



CoC Rental Assistance Program Policies and 

Procedures 
 

16 
 

status, or disability as detailed in 24 CFR 578.93(c) and will employ additional efforts to 

establish effective communication with persons with disabilities and persons with limited 

English proficiency. 

 

HACCC and HOPE Solutions will provide any applicants or program participants who 

encounter a condition or action that impedes fair housing choice with information on the 

rights and remedies available under applicable federal, State and local fair housing and civil 

rights laws. 

 

Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity 

 

HACCC will operate the RAP program in compliance with applicable civil rights laws, 

including the nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirements in the Fair Housing Act, 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and 

Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Further, in providing housing and services 

related to RAP, HACCC will not discriminate against a program applicant or participant on the 

basis of race, color, citizenship, national origin, ancestry, religion, sex, age, familial status, 

disability, actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, marital status, 

source of income, genetic information, status as a survivor of domestic violence, or other 

reasons prohibited by law. 

 

Compliance with Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 

 

RAP participants will be included in HACCC’s Section 3 program to the greatest extent 

feasible pursuant to 24 CFR 578 and 24 CFR 75. 

 

Procurement 

 

HACCC will retain copies of all solicitations of and agreements with contractors, as 

applicable, per Section 24 CFR 578.103(a)(16)(iii). This shall include records of all payment 

requests by, and dates of payments made to, contractors. 

 

For the procurement of property (goods, supplies, or equipment) and services, HACCC will 

comply with the standards of conduct and conflict-of-interest requirements under 2 CFR 

200.317 and 200.318. 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 48



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

HOPE SOLUTIONS 
 

CONTINUUM OF CARE RENTAL ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 
(SHELTER PLUS CARE) 

 

 

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 49



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

2 

 

 

 
Table of Contents 

 

 
 
 

Section 1: Program Overview 1 

Section 2: Hope Solutions Housing Philosophy 4 

Section 3: Coordinated Entry (CE) Applicant Selection Process 5 

Section 4: Eligibility Criteria 6 

Section 5: Housing Selection Process 9 

Section 6: PSH Issuing Procedures 9 

Section 7: Support Services 19 

Section 8: Program Retention 29 

Section 9: Grievances 33 

Section 10: Termination and Appeals 35 

Section 11: Vacancies 38 

Section 12: Client Records and Data Collection 39 

Section 13: Privacy and Confidentiality 40 

Section 14: Match Documentation 40 

Section 15: Non-Discrimination 41 

Section 16: Limited English Proficiency (LEP) 41 

 

Section 17: Quality Maintenance Plan 
 

42 

 

Section 18: Miscellaneous 
 

43 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 50



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

3 
 

Section 1: PROGRAM OVERVIEW 
 

The Continuum of Care (COC) Rental Assistance Program (also known as Shelter Plus Care or SPC) is a 

multi-site permanent supportive housing (PSH) program designed to provide permanent housing, rental 

assistance, and supportive services to people who are homeless and disabled. SPC is a part of the overall 

Continuum of Care (COC), comprised of homeless service providers throughout Contra Costa County, 

and receives referrals via the County’s Coordinated Entry system. 
 

Participants in these Programs will live in permanent housing, governed by a lease, and pay rent 

equivalent to approximately 30% of their adjusted gross income. They will be provided with housing 

search and case management support, life skills training, and landlord mediation assistance. These 

services will be delivered at the participants’ homes or in a convenient alternate location. Support staff 

will assist the participants to maintain their housing, increase independent living skills and achieve 

individual and family life goals identified by the participants. 
 

The Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa (HACCC) provides rental assistance to SPC 

participants, funded by U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), and authorized by 

Title IV of the Stewart B. McKinney Homeless Assistance Act. Hope Solutions (HS) provides ongoing 

support services to the formerly chronically homeless individuals and families participating in SPC. These 

individuals and families have at least one verifiable disability related to mental health illness, alcohol or 

drug dependence, or HIV/AIDS or related disorders, and/or other disabilities. 
 

The intent of this manual is to provide a comprehensive overview of the policies and procedures 

pertaining to Hope Solutions’ support services attached to these multi-site permanent housing 

programs. 
 

PROGRAM GOALS: 
In order for the multi-site programs to maintain their good standing in the community and to continue 
as viable programs, they need to meet a variety of program requirements as specified by the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). HUD has established three basic goals for each 
PSH project: 

 
1.   To help program participants obtain and remain in permanent housing; 
2.   To help participants increase skills and/or income. 
3.   To help participants achieve greater self-determination. 

 
All PSH program goals are tracked annually in our Annual Progress Report  (APR) that documents 

progress in achieving these goals. To meet these basic program goals, the SPC has developed specific 

performance measures. 
 

Section 2: HOUSING FIRST PHILOSOPHY 
 

The SPC Program employs a Housing First philosophy which is a low threshold approach to providing 

housing. This Housing First philosophy is grounded in the idea that people who are homeless and need 

an array of supports (mental health treatment, substance abuse treatment, physical health treatment)

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 51



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

4 
 

do best if they are provided with housing first. We believe that by providing housing first, and then 

offering supportive services, consumers have the best opportunity to move forward with their lives. 

Applicants are accepted into the program regardless of their sobriety or use of substances, completion 

of treatment, absence of income or too little income, criminal history, domestic violence history, or 

participation in services. This approach is considered a best practice by the United States Interagency 

Council on Homelessness (USICH) for governments and service-agencies to house homeless adults and 

families quickly by minimizing the barriers one encounters while trying to get into permanent housing. 
 

 

Hope Solutions adheres to HUD requirements to obtain 3rd party eligibility verifications; however, when 

permitted by HUD, Hope Solutions will provide housing first and work with new residents to obtain 

verifications after move-in. Hope Solutions staff collaborate with Coordinated Entry providers (CORE 

outreach, Housing Navigation) as well as with other community providers to obtain verifications as 

quickly as possible so that chronically homeless applicants can be housed as rapidly as possible. 
 

 

Hope Solutions identifies, monitors, and addresses barriers that might delay its efforts to employ the 

Housing First philosophy in its housing programs through active participation in all Coordinated Entry 

system meetings, regular communication with other housing providers, holding program team meetings 

to debrief after each move-in or move-out, and through welcoming ongoing consumer input via an 

open-door policy by program leadership as well as review of annual resident satisfaction survey 

responses. 
 

 

Supportive services are offered in-home and on demand to all clients and participation in services is 

voluntary. A client’s or household’s decision to refuse any supportive service has no impact on their 

housing status in and of itself. Clients may access services as part of their housing intake process, by self- 

referral, or staff referral. Services may be offered on a one-time basis or as an ongoing resource. HS 

provides support services on-site, where people live, assisting residents to reach goals and access 

resources independently, as much as possible. We respect the voice and initiative of clients and use 

client-centered tools to set goals and track progress. The staff at HS are trauma-informed, culturally 

aware, and strive to continually improve our methods of promoting the best outcomes for the 

individuals and families we serve. If clients are not interested in services, Case Managers check in from 

time to time to see if clients might have changed their minds. Motivational interviewing techniques that 

respect clients’ rights to utilize services in their own time are employed.  Staff are trained in the 

Prochaska/DiClemente model of stages of change, recognizing that all change happens over time, and in 

stages. 
 

 

In the interest of continuous quality improvement, clients are encouraged to discuss any concerns or 

issues they may have regarding services being offered or the staff who are offering them. Hope 

Solutions welcomes and accepts continuous feedback regarding these housing programs and the 

services that accompany them, in addition to offering clients an annual opportunity to provide 

anonymous feedback in the form of an annual satisfaction survey.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 52

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Interagency_Council_on_Homelessness
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Interagency_Council_on_Homelessness


COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

5 
 

When interacting with clients and colleagues, staff adhere to HS values and service philosophies as 

follows: 
 

Vision Statement: Hope Solutions envisions a world in which everyone has a place to call home and the 

support of a strong community so that they can live with dignity and reach their full potential. 
 

 

Mission Statement: Hope Solutions heals the effects of poverty and homelessness by providing 

permanent housing solutions and vital support services to highly vulnerable families and individuals. 

 
Housing First Core Elements: 

 
 Admission/tenant screening and selection practices affirm the acceptance of applicants 

regardless of their sobriety or use of substances, completion of treatment, and participation in 

services. 

 Applicants are not rejected on the basis of lack of income, poor credit or financial history, poor 

or lack of rental history, minor criminal convictions, or behaviors that indicate a lack of “housing 

readiness.” 

 Housing accepts referrals directly from shelters, street outreach, drop-in centers, and other 

parts of crisis response system frequented by vulnerable people experiencing homelessness. 

    Supportive services emphasize engagement and problem-solving over therapeutic goals. 

Services plans are highly tenant-driven without predetermined goals. Participation in services or 

program compliance is not a condition of permanent supportive housing tenancy. 

 Use of alcohol or drugs in and of itself (without other lease violations) is not considered a reason 

for eviction. 
 

Section 3: COORDINATED ENTRY (CE) APPLICANT SELECTION PROCESS 
 

On July 31, 2012, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) published an interim 

rule in the Federal Register for the new consolidated Continuum of Care (CoC) program. Under the 

interim CoC rule it is now mandatory that Continuums develop written standards and operate a 

coordinated assessment system. Provisions at 24 CFR 578.7(a)(8) requires that each CoC, in consultation 

with recipients of Emergency Solutions Grants (ESG) program funds within the CoC's geographic area, 

establish and operate either a centralized or coordinated entry system that provides an initial, 

comprehensive assessment of the needs of individuals and families for housing and services. Under no 

circumstances shall the order of priority be based upon diagnosis or disability type, but instead on the 

severity of needs of an individual or family. 
 

In Contra Costa’s Coordinated Entry system, all homeless individuals and families will complete a 

standard triage assessment survey that considers the household’s situation and identifies the best type 

of housing intervention to address their situation. The standard triage assessment survey that is used in 

Contra Costa County is the Vulnerability Index-Service Prioritization Decision Assistance Tool (VI-SPDAT) 

created by OrgCode Consulting and Community Solutions. The VI-SPDAT is integrated into the standard

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 53



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

6 
 

HMIS intake for people who are homeless and conducted at HMIS partner agencies, including shelters, 

service centers, transitional housing programs, and outreach programs: anywhere that people who are 

homeless first encounter our system of care. 
 

The SPC Program fills available openings from a community queue of eligible households generated from 

HMIS. The queue is based on length of time homeless (chronicity) and VI-SPDAT scores to ensure that we 

house those with the greatest vulnerabilities first. This coordinated process will reduce the need for 

people to traverse the county seeking assistance at every provider separately. 
 

Permanent Supportive Housing Prioritization Criteria: 
 

1) VI-SPDAT Score – Those who have been on the street, in emergency shelter, and/or places not meant 

for human habitation with the highest acuity will be served first. 

2) Length of Time Homeless – Among those with the same VI-SPDAT score, individuals/households who 

have been homeless the longest will be prioritized first. 

3) High Use of Services – Among those with the same VI-SPDAT score and the same length of time 

homeless, individuals/households will be prioritized based on the level of utilization of County services, 

with those with the highest utilization served first. 
 

Section 4: ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 
 

As required by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), verification of the 

following self-reported disabilities is needed before eligibility for PSH can be determined. 
 

   Disabled: Applicants must be able to document that they have one or more of the following 
disabilities: 

 

(1) a disability as defined in Section 223 of the Social Security Act; 
 

(2) a physical, mental, or emotional impairment which is (a) expected to be of long, continued and 

indefinite duration, (b) substantially impedes an individual’s ability to live independently, and (c) 

of such a nature that such ability could be improved by more suitable housing conditions. 
 

(3) a developmental disability as defined in Section 102 of the Developmental Disabilities Assistance 

and Bill of Rights Act; 
 

(4) the disease of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome or any conditions arising from the 

etiological agency for acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; OR 
 

(5) a diagnosable substance abuse disorder. 
 

Other Definitions: 
 

▪  Mental Health Problem – a mental health condition that is expected to be of long-continued and 
indefinite duration and may substantially impedes a client’s ability to live independently. A

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 54



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

7 
 

mental health problem may include serious depression, serious anxiety, hallucinations, violent 
behavior or thoughts of suicide. 

▪  Chronic Health Condition - a diagnosed condition that is more than three months in duration and 
is either not curable or has residual effects that limit daily living and require adaptation in 
function or special assistance. Examples of chronic health conditions include, but are not limited 
to, heart disease (including coronary heart disease, angina, heart attack and any other kind of 
heart condition or disease); severe asthma; diabetes; arthritis-related conditions (including 
arthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, gout, lupus, or fibromyalgia); adult onset cognitive impairments 
(including traumatic brain injury, post-traumatic distress syndrome, dementia, and other 
cognitive related conditions); severe headache/migraine; cancer; chronic bronchitis; liver 
condition; stroke; or emphysema. 

▪  Physical/Medical -a physical impairment which is (a) expected to be of long, continued and 
indefinite duration, (b) substantially impedes an individual’s ability to live independently, and (c) 
of such a nature that such ability could be improved by more suitable housing conditions. 

▪  Developmental - a severe, chronic disability that is attributed to a mental or physical impairment 
(or combination of physical and mental impairments) that occurs before 22 years of age and 
limits the capacity for independent living and economic self-sufficiency. 

 
   Homeless: The definition of who is homeless is documented in section 103 of the McKinney- Vento 

Act and also referenced in the regulations at 24 CFR 583.5. A homeless person is someone who is 
living on the street or in an emergency shelter, or who would be living on the street or in an 
emergency shelter without SHP assistance. Beginning January 15, 2016, applicants must be able 
to document that they are homeless according to the following definition: 

 

1.   A family or individual who lacks a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence; and 
their primary nighttime residence is one of the following: 

a)   A supervised publicly or privately operated shelter designed to provide temporary living 
accommodations; 

b)   A public or private place not meant for human habitation, such as cars, parks, sidewalks, or 
abandoned or condemned buildings; 

c)    A transitional housing program, and prior to entering the program, the applicant was 
homeless and primarily staying in shelters or on the streets; 

d)   An institution that provides a temporary residence for persons not intended to be 
institutionalized, and the applicant has been there less than 30 days, and upon entering the 
institution they were homeless according to one of the above definitions. 

 

In addition, single adults or couples without children must also meet HUD’s definition for being 

chronically homeless as defined by the following criteria: 
 

- Continuously homeless and residing on the streets or in emergency shelters for the past 12 months 

or more; 
 

- Living on the streets or in a shelter for less than a year, but has had at least 4 separate episodes 

(each instance separated by at least 7 days) of being homeless and either on the streets or staying in 

a shelter during the past three years where these occasions cumulatively total at least 12 months;

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 55



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

8 
 

- There are not a minimum number of days in which each occasion must total but instead, occasions 

are defined by a break of at least seven days not residing emergency shelter, safe haven, or residing 

in a place meant for human habitation; or 
 

- Stays in institutions of fewer than 90 days do not constitute a break and count toward total time 

homeless. 
 

- Single adults coming from transitional housing are not included in the HUD definition of chronic 
homelessness. However, they will be considered eligible for CCHS RAP Program if they are: 

 

- Currently residing in transitional housing, but prior to this had been homeless and either on the 
streets or staying in shelters for 12 months or more OR they have experienced at least 4 separate 
episodes of being homeless and on the streets or staying in a shelter during the past 3 years, if such 
occasion occurred prior to January 15, 2016. 

 

   Very Low Income: Applicants must meet the “very low” income criteria established by HUD, 
which is an annual income not more than 50% of the median income for the area according to 
the size of the household. 

   The head of household must be 18 years of age or older, or an emancipated minor. 
   The applicant must be willing to participate in support services. 

 
B. Eligible Households: Program Participants may choose to request housing solely for themselves, 

or they may include other household members. The Program will use the term “household” 
rather than “family”. The definition of an eligible household is: 

1.   A single person; or 
 

2.   Two or more persons whose income resources are available to meet the household’s needs, and 
who are related by blood, marriage or operation of law or who give evidence of a stable 
relationship, for example by showing past shared residency or pooled income sources, which 
has existed for a period of not less than six months. 

 

3. A person who is determined to be important to the participant's care and well-being may be 
included in the household as a Live-In Aide, provided that: a) the participant provides 
verification from a physician that the Live-In Aide is essential to their care; b) the Live-In Aide is 
not obligated for the financial support of the participant; and c) the Live-In Aide would not be 
living in the unit except to provide care for the participant. To qualify for a Live-In Aide, the 
applicant must have the Live-In Aide Form completed by a licensed physician, certifying that the 
participant’s condition is such that a caregiver is necessary to live in the home on a nightly basis. 

 

If approved for a Live-In Aide, the participant will be provided with a Live-In Aide Certification 

Form, to be completed by the prospective Live-In Aide. A Relative may be considered as a Live-In 

Aide, providing that: 1) he/she is not the primary source of financial support for the participant; 

2) he/she signs a waiver to any residual rights to the rental subsidy upon the participant’s exit 

from the program. During the annual recertification, the participant must provide current 

verification that a Live-In Aide is still necessary; and 3) applicant's spouse is not allowed to 

function as Live-In Aide.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 56



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

9 
 

Section 5: HOUSING SELECTION PROCESS 
 

A. Any individual and/or family that enter specific shelters, transitional living programs, rapid re- 

housing programs, are contacted through outreach, or supportive services only program will 

have a VI-SPDAT performed upon intake. Those performing VI-SPDATS are those who have 

established partner agreements in Homeless Management Information System (HMIS), non- 

profit community mental health clinics, community alcohol and other drug recovery programs, 

Contra Costa County Health Services, Continuum of Care (CoC) and Emergency Solutions Grant 

(ESG) funded agencies, whose mission includes the provision of ongoing support services to the 

PSH target population. 
 

B. When SPC units become available, Contra Costa County Homeless Programs will run a CoC wide 

VI-SPDAT queue of names and VI scores of those in the community who have completed a VI- 

SPDAT. 
 

C. Once the by name list is compiled, an email notification may be sent out to all partner providers 

notifying them of SPC vacancies and details regarding the Housing Placement Committee 

meeting that will review names of individuals who qualify based on VI-SPDAT score for PSH. 

Otherwise, eligible referrals are provided from the by name list for specific program vacancies 

by the Coordinated Entry Systems Manager. 
 

D.          lf a Housing Placement Committee meeting is held, HMIS partner providers are invited to join 

the meeting to screen and discuss eligible individuals for the SPC. The Housing Placement 

meeting is facilitated by Coordinated Entry Systems Manager, who leads the group through a 

series of questions to determine if the individual both qualifies for SPC housing, and who is able 

to live independently. By group consensus agreements are made regarding who is approved for 

specific housing openings. 
 

 
Section 6: RAP CERTIFICATE ISSUING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

 
The Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa (HACCC) is the fiscal agent for the SPC 

Program and administers the rental assistance. Rental assistance is in the form of a Rental 

Subsidy Certificate. The certificate is not portable outside Contra Costa County. 
 

The rental subsidy is based upon the monthly income of the household. The household will 

contribute approximately 30% of their adjusted income for rent. HACCC staff will verify each 

household's income and will determine the amount of their rental obligation. The participant 

portion of the rent and the subsidy portion of the rent are paid directly to the landlord. 
 

RAP Application and Enrollment 
 

A.          The program accepts applications of individuals or families who are approved during Housing 

Placement meetings and/or via direct referral by the Coordinated Entry Systems (CES) Manager.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 57



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

10 
 

Once an individual is approved, the CES Manager will contact the service provider connected to 

the consumer to inform them of the housing opportunity. The service provider will be given the 

SPC application for completion. 
 

B. Forwarding the completed application to the CES Manager certifies that an assessment for 

eligibility has been conducted in cooperation with the applicant, and that to the best of the 

agency's knowledge, the applicant meets the eligibility requirements for the SPC Program. 
 

The Partner Agency submitting the application is expected to: 
 

    Assist the individual in completing a SPC application. 
 Assist the individual in obtaining the documentation required to verify eligibility for the 

program. 
    Forward the application with all of the necessary documentation to the CES Manager. 
 Collaborate with Hope Solutions staff to provide interim service coordination during the 

initial application process. 
 

The Partner Agency will determine, in cooperation with the applicant, whether the individual has 

disability as required for participation in the SPC by: 

▪ Assessing past history such as inpatient psychiatric hospitalization, alcohol or drug 

treatment or recovery program participation, and outpatient mental health service 
participation. 

▪  Obtaining relevant information from other service providers (with the applicant’s written 
permission) where the applicant has received services. 

▪  Informally assessing the participant’s current activities and ability to function in major life 
areas. 

▪  Obtaining a letter of diagnosis from a treating mental health professional or substance 
abuse treatment facility. 

▪ For applicant whose qualifying disability is due to HIV/AIDS, a letter of diagnosis from a 
physician or nurse practitioner is advised. 

▪  Obtaining proof of SSI/SSDI income verification when applicable. 
 

C.          Application Materials 
 

The SPC Application Forms and documentation submitting to the CES Manager includes the following: 
 

a)        Applicant's demographic information 
b)       Household composition for all household members 
c)        Household income 
d)       Medical insurance coverage 
e)        Housing history 
f)        Health history 
g)        Summary of independent skills and service needs 
h)       Support services 
i)         Authorization for the Release of Information to Hope Solutions 
j)         Authorization for the Release of Information for Homeless Management Information 

System (HMIS)

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 58



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

11 
 

k)       Disability verification 
l)         Third-party verification of homelessness or chronic homelessness 
m)      Proof of income and assets (i.e. bank statement, alimony, retirement, etc.) 
n)       Picture identification and social security cards for each member of the household 
o)        Birth certificates for all minors in the household 

 

The CES Manager will review the application and make a final determination of eligibility. 
 
 

D.          Incomplete Applications: 
 

If the application is incomplete, the CES Manager will notify the Partner Agency and the 
applicant, and specify the additional documentation required to make a final determination. 

 
If the Partner Agency does not provide the necessary documentation within 30 days of 
notification from the CES Manager, the applicant will be determined to be ineligible, and the 
result will be notified to the applicant and the service agency. 

 
E.           Ineligible Applicants: 

 
If the CES Manager and/or Hope Solutions determines that the applicant does not meet the 
program eligibility criteria, the Partner Agency will be notified in writing with the reasons for the 
denial of the application. 

 
The applicant has the right to request an Informal Review of the decision denying eligibility for 
the program. In order to request an Informal Review, the applicant must submit the request in 
writing within ten (10) business days to: Attn: Director of Housing Programs, Hope Solutions, 
399 Taylor Boulevard, Suite 115, Pleasant Hill, CA 94523. 

 

When an applicant is accepted into the SPC, the following procedures will be followed: 

A.          The Hope Solutions SPC Services Manager will: 
 

 Issue an approval letter for issuance to the accepted participant. The letter will include the 
applicant's name, assigned grant, the number of adults and minors who were included in 
the applicant's household, and Live-In Aide, if applicable. 

 Send the approval letter to HACCC authorizing the approved applicant. A copy of the 
approval letter will also be sent to the applicant and the referring service agency 
coordinator. The service agency coordinator is responsible for getting the information from 
the HACCC to the applicant for future correspondence with the HACCC. 

 Maintain a line of communication among the applicant, the referring service agency 
coordinator and the HACCC to ensure to complete the entire application process (i.e. in an 
event if the applicant fails to appear on an initial orientation with the HACCC). 

 
B.          Once the SPC approval letter is issued, the HACCC will: 

 
    Determine the bedroom size and rent obligation for the applicants and their household.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 59



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

12 
 

 Provide an orientation to the applicants to brief the process including but not limited to 
verifying the contents on the application form, obtaining a written consent from the 
applicant for background checks, and explaining about the application process. 

    Coordinate with third-party agencies to request for the applicant's background checks. 
    Notify the applicant if rescheduling is needed. 

 
C.        After the applicant's background is verified, the HACCC will: 

 

 Notify the applicants, the referred service agency coordinator and the SPC Services Manager 
of the background check result. 

 Schedule another orientation to brief the program overview to the applicants who has clear 
background. 

 Issue a Request for Tenancy Approval (RTA) and review with the participants how and when 
to use the RTA. 

 Review the Household Responsibilities outlined on the SPC certificate with the participant, 
and have the participant sign it during the briefing. 

 
If an applicant does not contact the HACCC within 60 days of the date that their letter was received, the 
applicant may be considered inactive and discharged from the SPC. 

 
Initial Leasing: 

 
A.          Housing Search 

 
For tenant-based subsidies, once the participant has received an SPC certificate, the participant 
starts their own housing search, or will be assigned an SPC Case Manager who may assist with 
housing search, if appropriate. The assistance may include: 1) searching online classified ads and 
providing participants with housing leads; 2) making phone calls to landlords on behalf of the 
participant to explain about the SPC Program; 3) visiting units with the participant and helping 
the participant negotiate leasing an unit, 4) referring clients to an array of services on an as- 
needed basis. 

 
SPC Program staff will make every reasonable effort to assist participants with a tenant-based 
subsidy to secure housing. Participants who have difficulty locating housing for any reasons 
must request an extension in writing sent to the SPC Services Manager. Once the request is 
granted by HACCC, the SPC Services Manager will issue an approval letter with additional 
extension period.  Ultimately, however, securing a rental unit is the responsibility of the 
participants. Participation in the program does not guarantee the SPC service team will locate a 
unit for the participants. 

 
The participants served through a site-based grant will be placed in a designated unit that is 
owned or master-leased by the sponsoring agency, and the assigned certificate is 
nontransferable to another unit, even within Contra Costa County. 

 
B.          Eligible Units

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 60



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

13 
 

 

The participant with a tenant-based certificate must find an eligible unit under SPC program 
rules with an owner/landlord who agrees to enter into a Housing Assistance Payment contract. 
Units must meet the following requirements: 

 

    Unit must meet rent reasonableness standards set by HACCC; 
    Unit must be in decent, safe, and sanitary condition in accordance with HUD’s Housing 

Quality Standards; 
    Unit must be appropriate for the size of the participant’s household; 
 Unit must be located in Alamo, Antioch, Bay Point, Byron, Brentwood, Clayton, Concord, 

Crockett, Danville, Discovery Bay, El Cerrito, El Sobrante, Hercules, Lafayette, Martinez, 
Moraga, Oakley, Orinda, Pacheco, Pinole, Pittsburg, Pleasant Hill, Richmond, Rodeo, San 
Pablo, San Ramon, Walnut Creek, or any other eligible location within Contra Costa County. 

 
C.           Request for Tenancy Approval (RTA) 

 
Once the applicant locates a suitable unit, the participant will work with the landlord to 
complete the Request for Tenancy Approval (RTA) form. The RTA must be returned to HACCC 
before the participant’s SPC certificate expires. 

 
HACCC will review the RTA within 48 hours to confirm that the participant is enrolled in the 
program and has a valid certificate, that the unit being requested is the appropriate size for the 
household, and that the rent is within the allowable rent ceilings. If approved, the HACCC signs 
the RTA and submits the documentation to the Housing Inspector, who then schedules an 
inspection to verify that the unit meets federal Housing Quality Standards (HQS) and rent 
reasonableness standards. 

 
D.          Unit Inspections (Lead-based paint inspections), & Housing Quality Standards 

 
Each unit must be inspected by a qualified inspector approved by HACCC prior to entering into a 
lease agreement and a participant occupies the identified unit. The inspector will schedule an 
inspection within 10 business days of receipt of the inspection, including a visual lead-based 
paint inspection. 

 
*For more information on lead-based pain inspections please refer to HACCC’s policies and 
procedures manual. 

 
At a minimum the Housing Inspector inspects the interior living space, building exterior, and 
heating and plumbing systems, to verify that the unit is in safe, decent, and sanitary condition 
and meets federal HQS. The Housing Inspector will complete a Housing Inspection Worksheet to 
document the outcome of the inspection. Any housing quality issues must be corrected within 
30 days from the start of the lease, and the inspector must verify that all issues have been 
corrected. 

 
Each unit will be inspected at least annually to ensure that the unit continues to meet HQS. The 
property owner will be notified in writing of any deficiencies and will be given 30 days to make 
the necessary repairs.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 61



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

14 
 

 

E.           Rent Ceilings/Limits 

 
Allowable unit rents are based upon the HUD determination of fair market value and are 

reflective of reasonable rental amount to be paid for decent, safe and sanitary rental housing of 

a modest nature in the Contra Costa County rental market. 

 
HACCC will not approve an initial rent or a rent increase for a tenant-based or sponsor-based 

unit without determining that the rent being requested by the owner is reasonable. HUD 

establishes a payment standard that is the amount generally needed to rent a moderately 

priced unit in the local housing market, referred to as the “Fair Market Rent” or “FMR.” The rent 

being requested by an owner cannot unreasonably exceed the FMR established by HUD and 

meet rent reasonableness standards. 

 
Rent reasonableness is determined by comparing if the rent being charged for the unit receiving 

rental assistance is reasonable in relation to rents being charged for comparable unassisted 

units. In making a rent reasonableness determination, the HACCC Inspector will consider the 

location, quality, size, number of bedrooms, age, amenities, housing services, maintenance and 

utilities of the unit and the comparable units. 

 
F.           Calculation of Tenant Rent Obligation 

 
Once the RTA packet is completed, the HACCC will calculate the tenant’s portion of the rent 
along with the utility allowance in accordance with the HUD CPD Notice 96-3. 

 
 

G.          The SPC Lease and Housing Assistance Payment Contract 

 
Once the HACCC has determined that the amount of rent being requested is reasonable, and the 
tenant’s portion of the rent and the utility allowance has been calculated, the HACCC will 
execute the SPC Lease and Housing Assistance Payments Contract. 

 
After all related documents have been signed by the owner and the participant, the HACCC will 
complete the file, and submit the documentation to the HACCC Housing Services Manager for 
authorization, prior to entering the information into the payment system. The Housing Services 
Manager shall verify that the unit is properly inspected, and the tenant’s portion of the rent, the 
utility allowance, and if Housing Assistance Payment were calculated correctly. 

 
H.          Security Deposits 

 
Upon signing a lease with the SPC, a landlord may receive a security deposit payment from the 
tenant. The amount of security deposit shall be indicated on the Request for Tenancy Approval 
form and on the lease. 

 
The security deposit is an arrangement between the HACCC and the landlord. The HACCC will 
negotiate a security deposit that is financially reasonable for the tenant-participants in the

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 62



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

15 
 

program. Participants in the SPC are eligible to receive one-time only financial assistance 
through the program to cover the cost of the security deposit. 

 
I.            Procedure for Requesting Assistance 

 

At the time that the program participant finds a rental unit and is ready to submit a Request for 
Tenancy Approval (RTA), they should complete the Request for Security Deposit form. 

 
The Request for Security Deposit form is submitted to the HACCC, along with the completed RTA 
and Tenant Data Worksheet. The security deposit cannot be paid until the unit has been 
inspected and approved by the HACCC, and the contract has been signed by the property owner. 
The HACCC will pay the security deposit directly to the property owner along with the initial 
housing assistance payment. 

 
J.           Refunding the Security Deposit Upon Termination of Tenancy 

 
In the event the participant relocates after receiving a deposit, the landlord shall make the 
deposit refund payable to the participant. The participant will be responsible for paying the 
landlord of the new unit any and all amount of the deposit required. Security deposit is one- 
time only financial assistance from the HACCC. 

 
In the event that the participant vacates the unit, the entire security deposit amount will be 
returned by the property owner to the participants, less any claims for damages or vacancy loss. 

 
The landlord will be responsible for maintaining records on uses of these security deposit funds 
for apartment repairs for damages caused by the tenant, if applicable. Unexpended deposit 
funds must be returned to the participant within 21 days of the tenant vacating the unit. 
Authorized uses of security deposits are: 

 

 Repairs of tenant-caused damages and other cleaning and refurbishing necessary to prepare 
a vacant unit for re-rental. 

 Unpaid tenant’s portion of rent due the landlord for the term of the tenant’s occupancy in 
the unit, if tenant left without notice. If a tenant leaves in mid-month, the allowable tenant 
rent charged to the security deposit will be pro-rated. 

 
Changes in Household Size: 

 
SPC participants who wish to add anyone to their household will not qualify for a larger unit 
unless their household composition exceeds the “maximum family size” set by the HACCC. If 
that is the case, once the participant’s initial 12-month lease expires, then the participant may 
be issued a new certificate to transfer to a larger unit. 
If a member of an SPC participant’s household moves out, the participant will be required to 
move to a smaller sized unit when the number of bedrooms exceeds the minimum family size. 

 
Any visitor not included on the lease agreement who appears to be residing in the unit may be 
required to provide a proof of another address, such as a signed lease agreement or utility bills 
in their name. In the absence of such proof, the individual will be considered an unauthorized

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 63



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

16 
 

member of the household, and the participant will be subject to termination from the SPC due 
to violating their lease agreement. 

 
Transfer Policy: 

 
The SPC is committed to providing as much flexibility as possible for participants in the program 

to choose housing that accommodates to meet their needs. 
 

A.          Voluntary Transfers 
 

SPC Participants who receive tenant-based rental assistance may request a transfer to another 
unit. The participant shall notify the HACCC of their wish to transfer. All requests to transfer 
must be approved by the SPC Services Manager prior to leasing a new unit. The unit transfer 
request will be granted if all of the following conditions are met: 

 

    The participant has resided in the unit for at least 12 months. 
    The participant is up to date with their rental payments. 
    The unit is clean and free of damage caused by the participant. 
    The participant is in good standing in the SPC and abiding by the terms of the Program 

Agreement. 
 

Exceptions will be considered for participants at the discretion of the SPC Services Manager in 

the following situations: 
 

1. There are serious safety concerns or serious habitability issues that are out of the 
participant’s control; 

2.    The household size has changed such that a change in unit size is necessary, or 
3. There is mutual agreement between the property owner and the participant to terminate 

the rental contract, and the participant is otherwise in good standing in the program. 
 

Approval of a transfer will be contingent upon verification that the participants follow their 
Program Agreement and are in good standing in the program. Upon approval of the request, the 
SPC Services Manager will issue a new SPC certificate to the participant. Prior to the unit 
transfer, the participant must give the property owner a written 30-day notice of their intention 
to vacate their unit. When the participant finds a new unit, the RTA needs to be completed by a 
new landlord and submitted to the HACCC. Housing Assistance Payments for the new unit shall 
not begin until the end date of the 30-day notice, and the approval for the new unit. 

 
B.             Involuntary Transfers 

 

SPC participants who receive a notice to vacate by the owner or who are served with an eviction 

notice must contact the HACCC to request a transfer certificate, if wished to remain their 

participation in the SPC. If the initiation of eviction proceedings is due to no fault of the 

participant, such as in the case of the building being sold, the request shall be approved without 

written request. However, notifying to the HACCC of the change is the responsibility of the 

participants.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 64



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

17 
 

If the initiation of eviction proceedings is due to any violation of the lease agreement, the 
request will be granted at the discretion of the SPC Services Manager in accordance with the 
Program Retention Policy, so long as the participant: 

 

1)        Continues to fulfill their responsibilities as specified in the SPC Program Agreement; and 
 

2)       Takes reasonable action steps to resolve the issues contributed to the eviction. 
 
 

Annual Recertification and Interim Adjustments: 
 

Once a participant is housed, the HACCC is required by HUD regulations to re-certify the 
participant’s eligibility on an annual basis. This includes: 

 

    Verifying the household’s income and household composition; 
    Re-inspecting the unit every two (2) years to assure that it continues to meet federal 

Housing Quality Standards; 
 Adjusting the unit’s rent if the landlord requests an increase that is reasonable and 

within the federal rent ceilings. 
 

In accordance with HUD requirements, on an annual basis the HACCC shall reexamine the 
income and household composition of all participants and conduct an HQS inspection every two 
(2) years. 

 
The HACCC maintains a database to keep track of renewal dates for each household, the 
household composition, household income, and calculations of the tenant rent and Housing 
Assistance Payment. Ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary of the contract lease date, the 
HACCC will notify the participant and the landlord of the upcoming inspection and 
recertification. 

 
A.          Participant Documentation 

 
The HACCC will send the participant and Hope Solutions SPC staff a notice of required annual 
recertification along with forms to be completed. Hope Solutions SPC staff will offer assistance 
to participants throughout the annual recertification process. The participant must attend 
annual recertification orientation that the HACCC scheduled and present documents during the 
orientation as follows: 

    Current income verification for each member of the household; 
    Current asset verification for each adult member of the household; 

 Authorization for the Release of Information/Privacy Act Notice, signed by each member 
of the household aged 18 or older; 

 Verifications for any deductions claimed for medical expenses, childcare expenses, or 
student status. 

 
If the participant does not respond within a reasonable period of time, the HACCC will send 
another letter and the packet. The HACCC will also notify the SPC Services Manager to request 
assistance in collecting the required documentation. 

 
B.          Bi-Annual Inspection

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 65



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

18 
 

 

The HACCC will send the participant and the landlord a written notice of the date and time of 
the inspection. The HACCC will attempt to collect the annual recertification documents from the 
participant at the time of the home inspection. 

 
The HACCC's approved Housing Inspector will complete a Housing Inspection worksheet, and 

document the outcome of the inspection. If the unit fails an inspection due to conditions that 

are the responsibility of the property owner, the HACCC will notify the property owner in writing 

and shall give a 30 day-period to correct any deficiency. 
 

If the deficiencies are not corrected, the contract will go into abatement and the HACCC may 

withhold the subsidy payment. Failure to comply the requirement within a reasonable period of 

abatement may result in the contract for the unit being cancelled.  If the participant qualifies for 

a transfer, they will be issued a new certificate, and have until the certificate expires to find a 

suitable unit. 
 

If the unit fails an inspection due to conditions that are the responsibility of the program 

participant, the participant and the landlord will be notified in writing, with a 30-day deadline 

for the problems to be corrected. A copy of the notice will be given to the SPC Manager who 

will notify the participants and their service providers in order for them to assist the participant 

to correct the issued. 
 

If the unit continues to fail the HQS inspection after the 30-day deadline, the contract will go 

into abatement until passes. Both the participant and landlord will be notified in writing of the 

abatement. During this period, the HACCC may continue to provide the Housing Assistance 

Payments to the landlord, if the landlord is not responsible for the conditions for which the unit 

failed HQS inspection. After a reasonable period of time determined by the HACCC, the contract 

will be cancelled, and the participant will be responsible for paying the full rent for the unit. 
 

C.           Interim Adjustments 

 
The Participants are required to report any change of their income to the HACCC within 30 days 
of that change. Once an income change is reported and appropriate third-party verification has 
been received, the HACCC will perform a revised rent calculation. The HACCC will notify the 
adjusted rent calculation to both the participant and the landlord in writing. The calculation 
includes the participant’s portion of the adjusted rent for clarity of either an increase or 
decrease in household income. The adjusted rent will be effective 30 days beyond the end of 
the month that it was reported. 

 

 
 

Section 7: SUPPORT SERVICES 
 

General Program Goals:

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 66



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

19 
 

Through its housing programs, Hope Solutions staff are committed to assisting consumers in 

working toward improvements in the following general areas: 
 

 

1.   Enable homeless adults with diagnosed mental illness and/or diagnosed substance use 

disorder and/or diagnosed other disabling conditions to secure and retain housing. 

2.   Provide flexible, integrated services to support consumers to stabilize acute and chronic 

health and psychiatric conditions. 

3.   Support consumers to develop support networks and cultivate personal coping mechanisms 

that can mitigate illness, addiction, and complex trauma impacts and/or the consequences 

of these issues. 

4.   Improve consumers’ quality of life and overall health and well-being by supporting them to 

achieve self-set life goals. 

5.   Support family relationships, particularly between parents and children, to create healthy 

interdependence and mutual support among family members. 

6.   Ensure youth housed in the program are enrolled in school and support connections to 

needed educational resources for all household members. 
 

 

Assessment: 
 

 

The initial face-to-face assessment most often occurs during the voluntary admission process in 

which the consumers fully participate by articulating their strengths and needs. However, the 

assessment process is an ongoing procedure and is documented monthly at a minimum as life 

circumstances, personal self-understanding, and data validity are in a constant state of flux and 

should be updated as new information is collected. 
 

 

Support Service Documents: 
 

 

Once the applicant is accepted into the program the Case Manager works to help the client to 

move into their new home quickly and comfortably. Meetings are scheduled with property 

management to review the lease and house rules of the property. Documents that may be used 

at this point by case managers include: 

    Welcome letter (describing services available) 

    Informed consent to receive Support Services 

    Privacy Notice 

    Furnishing needs check sheet 

    Release of Information for service staff and property management staff to collaborate 

    Individual/Family Action Plan 

    Self Sufficiency Matrix 

    Grievance procedure 

    Media release 

    HMIS intake/ROI/Privacy Notice

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 67



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

20 
 

 
Action Plan: 

 

 

In accordance with the harm reduction model and motivational interviewing techniques of 

service delivery, the Action Plan is developed with the client, using their goals and interests to 

shape the work with support services. The Action Plan form presents goals as well as identifying 

the strengths, needs, abilities, and preferences of the clients (including documenting a 

participant’s housing goals, plans for achieving stability to retain housing, and the barriers that 

need to be overcome to achieve them). The Action Plan also documents the support that the 

Case Manager will provide to assist with meeting those goals. Both the Hope Solutions staff 

member and consumer share responsibility for identifying goals, taking steps towards achieving 

the goals, and goal achievement or modification. Once a plan has been developed, each meeting 

between staff and consumers is a follow up to the plan and any other issues that may arise. 

Documentation of the plan, updates on progress (progress notes), modifications, achievements, 

and new/revised plans are the responsibility of staff, but the process is one that involves shared 

decision making. Documentation should reflect the principle of shared decision making in that 

the words of the consumer are used in quotations. However, staff assist consumers with 

developing life/housing goals that are achievable, realistic, and measurable. Consumers are 

encouraged to keep copies of the plan and the decision to accept the copy or refuse the copy is 

documented by staff. 
 

 

Points to remember in developing the Action Plan: 

 
 Goals are defined and chosen by the client. It is important to remember that staff may 

identify a problem, or goal, and it might not be defined as such by the client/household 

member. 

    Clients may choose to work on short term goals and long-term goals. 

    All goals should be clear, concise, and measurable. 

 Action Plans should clearly demonstrate a relationship between the outcome (goal) and how 

to address any obstacles to its achievement. 

 Identify outcomes that are observable to the client and staff (i.e., the client will use a coping 

skill such as going for a walk instead of drinking when they are upset) 

    Identify outcomes that the client verbally communicates to staff as goals they want to 

pursue. 
 

 

Action Plans are completed within 30 days of admission to the program and are updated at a 

minimum every twelve months, although goals may be added or changed on an as-needed basis 

during the course of service delivery (as noted above, staff continuously assess client progress 

on Action Plan goals and partner with clients to adjust Action Plans when goals are achieved, 

new goals are identified, and/or when a client is struggling to take steps to achieve a goal). HUD 

evaluates permanent supportive housing performance with the two standard outcome

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 68



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

21 
 

measures; 1) remaining in/exiting to permanent housing and 2) maintaining/increasing income 

(from all sources) at end of operating year or program exit – these outcomes should receive 

focus during the process of creating a participant’s or family’s Action Plan. 
 

 

Action Plan Implementation: 

 
Implementation o f a participant’s Action Plan is an ongoing, evolving process.  On 

occasion,  participants may reach one particular goal and choose to formulate another in its 

place, or a new goal may be identified and added before previously formulated goals have 

been completed. Referrals to counseling, vocational rehabilitation groups, and participation 

in meetings with multi-site team members are all available to consumers as they work 

toward 

their stabilization and functional improvement. Participants are the primary drivers of their own 

progress and are permitted to change their goals at any time, with support and guidance 

provided by multi-site team members. 
 

 

After completion of the Plan, the participant should sign the Plan, indicating agreement with its 

contents. The signed copy should be kept in the participant’s chart and the consumer should be 

provided a copy any time that it is requested. 
 

 

ONGOING SERVICE 

DELIVERY Philosophy: 
 

 

The goals of the SPC Program include providing permanent supportive housing and supporting 

the highest level of self-reliance possible. The service delivery component is focused on 

providing support to assist in stabilization of mental health, medical, and substance 

abuse/dependence symptoms that impair functioning. The social rehabilitation model affords 

residents the maximum amount of participation possible in their efforts to recover from the 

impact of disabling health issues and any co-occurring disorder from which they may suffer. This 

model empowers clients to engage in positive living and decision-making while accessing those 

resources which support a successful life in the community. 
 

Thus, service delivery is centered upon the general needs of clients who are experiencing mental 

health, physical health, and/or substance use challenges, and their identified needs based upon 

the preferences of their Action Plans. Case Management services are designed to allow the 

flexibility needed to respond to ongoing as well as fluctuating needs. 

 
Each skill discussed, learned, or practiced is flexible, adaptable, and applicable to recovery 

and/or self-maintenance for persons with a medical condition, mental health diagnosis, or a co- 

occurring dependency/addiction. Clients are offered referrals to multi-dimensional services 

including therapy, participation in treatment teams, pre-vocational education, assistance with 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 69



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

22 
 

psychiatric services, recreation, outreach, information services, and collateral services designed 

to facilitate independent living. 

 

Home Visits: 
 

 

Home visits are an integral part of the services provided by the SPC team. Home visits provide 

Case Managers the opportunity to learn more about their residents and the environments in 

which they live. 

 
The number of home visits per month by Case Managers is determined by the assessed service 

level under which a client has been identified. The tier system is as follows: 

 
    Crisis:   2-3 face-to-face visits per week, or referral to higher level of care. 

    Tier 1:   Minimum of 1 face to face visit per week. 

    Tier 2:   Minimum of 1 face-to-face visit every month, and as-needed phone check-in(s) 

on the in-between weeks. 

    Tier 3:   Minimum of 1 face-to-face visit every 6 months. 
 

 

This system is used by the SPC team for internal purposes only, to ensure all clients/households 

are provided the necessary level of care at any given point in time, and to remind Case 

Managers of who they need to follow-up with during a given week. 
 

 

Once admitted into housing, all clients should be identified as Level 1 to ensure all needs are 

met for a successful move-in and transition. Once clients are stable and comfortable in their 

new living environment, Case Managers work with the support staff and the SPC Services 

Manager to monitor the level of care needed for any particular resident. Examples of when a 

client may fall under a given level are as follows: 

 
    Crisis: 

o    Client has relapsed. 

o    Immediately after a 5150 hold, experience of trauma, surgery, etc. 

o    Client shows signs of decompensating. 

    Tier I: 

o    Immediately upon admittance into the program for a minimum of 30 days. 

o    Client has had a recent change in medication. 

o    Client has minimal support in the community 

o    Client has a history of major depression (or other significant mental illness) and 

does not receive mental health treatment. 

    Tier 2: 

o    Client actively engages in achieving their goals and utilizes support as needed. 

o    Client has been stable for a minimum of 30 - 60 days. 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 70



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

23 
 

    Tier 3: 

o    Client is enrolled in college courses and/or has a part-time or full-time job. 

o Client is an active member of AA, NA, or other support groups, and has ample 

support in the community. 

o    Client has been stable for a minimum of 6 months. 
 

 

Case Managers should have documented, consistent contact with each client on their caseload. 

Each Case Manager develops their own unique style for home visits. Weekly team meetings and 

clinical supervision meetings are times for Case Managers to get feedback on any problems, 

issues, and successes with particular clients. 
 

 

Procedures for Home Visits 

A.   The Case Manager calls client/household to schedule appointment. Case Managers maintain 

awareness that they are a guest in the home of the client and show respect and professionalism 

at all times. 

B.   Before client’s appointment, Case Manager should check client’s file to see if any forms are 

missing or require updated signatures and bring those forms to home visit. All protected, 

confidential information will be transported in a locked box or case to and from the office. 

C.   Client files/documents are never to be left in an automobile but should be with the Case 

Managers at all times. This includes computers and/or cell phones that have client information 

stored on them. 

D.  The Case Manager goes to client’s home on scheduled day at scheduled time. The Case Manager 

must carry a cell phone during a home visit and should let their supervisor or someone in the 

office know where they are going to be and when they are expected to return to office. 

E.   If the Case Manager does not feel safe for any reason, the Case Manager should terminate the 

home visit and return to the office immediately. 

F. The Case Manager notes mileage from the office to client’s home, for transportation to and 

from medical or other appointments, and for return to the office. The Case Manager should 

observe traffic laws and speed limits when transporting clients, as well as practice defensive 

driving. Staff are strictly forbidden to text or talk on the phone without using a hands-free 

device while driving. 

G.   The Case Manager may bring copies of Action Plan or other forms to complete with clients for 

entry later into HS’s charting system and HMIS. Motivational Interviewing is the recommended 

therapeutic approach in cases where clients are struggling with a decision about committing to a 

goal. 

H.   At the end of the home visit, the Case Manager should schedule another appointment with 

client at an agreed-upon time and date. 

I.   Upon returning to office the Case Manager enters the data from the meeting into HS’s database 

system. Any HMIS opening, update, or closing forms are shared with the SPC Services Manager 

Services and faxed to HS’s HMIS data entry staff member. 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 71



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

24 
 

In the event that a client refuses case management services, the Case Manager will inform the SPC 

Services Manager and Director of Housing Programs. The SPC Services Manager will assist with Case 

Manager decisions to determine which tier of support each client should have, using information 

received individually from Case Managers as well as in weekly supervision meetings. 
 

 

If at any time a Case Manager attempts to contact a client either by phone or at a scheduled home 

visit and the client is unavailable, the Case Manager documents this attempted contact in their 

progress notes. 
 

 

Progress Notes: 
 

 

Progress notes are completed after every contact with a client and every contact on behalf of a 

client to track Case Managers’ type of contact and communication with, and efforts on behalf 

of, clients. They should be completed within 24 hours after a client contact. 
 

 

Annual Update: 
 

 

Case Managers will work with clients to track progress on an ongoing basis with the Action Plan 

goals. Annually (at least) Case Managers will review resident goals and note progress/goals 

achieved, however, each visit with a client household provides an opportunity to reassess client 

strengths, challenges and progress and the Action Plan should be updated on an as-needed 

basis. Case Managers will also note specific changes in income/employment and update the self- 

sufficiency matrix for each client annually (and as needed). Outcomes and client progress will be 

reported in an aggregate form on logic models that describe goals for the program. 

Participation in these processes is not required for any client in the program. 
 

 

File Maintenance: 
 

Case management notes will be maintained on a HIPAA protected web-based site.  These notes 

will be reviewed and audited periodically by supervisors. 
 

 

Difficulties That Inhibit the Ability of Residents to Address Their Needs in the Community: 
 

 

Due to mental illnesses or medical/substance-use conditions, clients may have difficulties which 

inhibit their ability to address their needs within the home or the larger community. For 

example, these may include problems with: 

 
    Basic living skills 

    Managing the symptoms of mental illness 

    Medication compliance 

    Maintaining employment 

    Maintaining adequate finances/benefits 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 72



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

25 
 

    Managing basic housekeeping 

    Establishing or maintaining an appropriate social support system 

    Maintaining sobriety 

    Anger management 

    Cognitive limitations 

    Access to health care 
 

 

Case Managers will work to support skill growth in all the above areas to support the stable and 

continuous housing of SPC clients. 
 

 

Crisis Intervention/de-escalation: 
 

 

Upon occasion, clients may become severely agitated, threaten violence, or otherwise create 

circumstances where it becomes necessary to take immediate action for the protection of that 

client as well as other clients and program staff. The following guidelines are intended to assist 

the staff decision process when confronted by such situations. 

 
Every effort should be made to help agitated clients calm down and be able to function within 

the program. The response(s) to a given situation will depend upon how staff evaluates the level 

of disruption or threat by agitated clients as well as to other people and to staff. One should 

attempt milder interventions first and move to stronger interventions only when first attempts 

are not successful in producing the desired outcome. Following are some possible interventions 

at various levels. At all times staff and client safety should be the priority when addressing 

conflict situations. 
 

 

Within Normal Program Structure 
A.   Remind clients that the normal structure of the program is designed to help them cope with 

daily issues. 

B.   Adhering to normal program guidelines can help clients gain perspective on 

their concerns. 

C.   Clients can be encouraged to sleep at appropriate nighttime hours in order to achieve 
sufficient rest. 

D.   Referrals to other service providers can offer residents group process and therapy which 
comprise peer support and supportive group counseling that can frequently help clients deal 
with a particular concern. 

E. Individual counseling may be requested by clients to address issues more suitable to the 1:1 

therapy session. Case Managers can assist with these referrals. 

F.    Care should be taken that clients are taking medications as prescribed. 

G.   A short time-out (15 minutes) from the current situation may be helpful, followed by a 

resumption of attention to the problem. 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 73



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

26 
 

H.   A special individual counseling session of approximately 30 minutes may be useful with a 

problem-solving focus on the specific stressors of the clients and on a plan for reducing 

same. 

I. Attempt to find a solution for at least one of the issues raised by the client in order to 

reduce anxiety and demonstrate that problems can be solved. 

J.    Under some circumstances it may become necessary for staff to stay within sight of 

agitated clients. This can provide an additional sense of structure and safety to clients as 

well as 

assist the staff in monitoring the level of threat to self and others of agitated clients. 

This monitoring/assessing should last for as long as is necessary to confirm there is no 

threat. 

K.   If clients are agitated and unable to respond to verbal interventions, it may be possible to 

allow them the physical space and time in which to calm themselves. This can be 

accomplished by having clients sit by themselves in another room for 30 minutes in order 

to gain some perspective on their distress. While agitated people may not be very 

responsive, it is still important to explain what is happening and what to expect ("Right now 

you are too 

upset to respond to us and we are concerned that you may hurt yourself or others. Staff 

will stay nearby to make sure you are safe. If you are unable to calm down within half an 

hour, we may need to ask for outside assistance to insure everyone’s safety.”) 

L.  Departure - On occasion agitated clients may opt for leaving the present environment. If 

staff assesses that this would constitute a danger to the client or to the community, the 

police or 911 should be notified immediately. 
 

 

Interventions That Involve Minor Alteration of Structure 

Some interventions may require minor divergence from normal program structure or the plan 

for a particular meeting with a client. When this is done it should be accompanied with clear 

communication about the desired goals (e.g. "Why don't you take a 5 minute break to calm 

down, and then come back and talk about what was bothering you?") Also assess whether 

the individual is able to bear the level of responsibility required of them (e.g. taking a walk 

alone may not be safe). 
 

 

More Severe Modifications of Program Structure 

If clients are more intensely agitated, threatening, or unable to respond to lesser interventions, 

it may be necessary to modify structure significantly in order to help individuals stabilize. These 

types of interventions usually require interpretation and careful framing with agitated clients.  

In addition, they should be carefully time-limited and that limit made clear to all so that 

everyone will understand that normal structure will soon return. 
 

 

Consultation with Mental Health Providers 

During the course of a crisis, consult with other providers who work with the affected 

individual if possible. In most cases this will be another staff member (or a County Case 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 74



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

27 
 

Manager, or County psychiatrist.) When this is done, care should be taken to give as complete a 

picture of the current situation as possible, what preceded the situation, and what kind of 

assistance is being requested. Any communication with outside providers must be done with 

client permission. 

 

Emergencies: 

In the event of an emergency that occurs after-hours, SPC participants can contact their local 

police, or they can contact 911 or 211 for crisis assistance. 
 

 

Case Conferences: 
 

 

Case Managers and the SPC Services Manager (and the Director of Housing Programs when 

needed) meet on a weekly basis to discuss specific clients, receive training and plan for program 

activities. The Director of Housing Programs will join this meeting as needed to check in and 

collaborate on current consumer/family situations. On occasion, other service providers may be 

asked to attend case management meetings to share information and provide support for 

shared clients. The SPC Services Manager will collaborate with the Director of Housing Programs 

regarding any urgent consumer issues, clinical approaches to client support, program changes, 

and changes to policies and procedures. In addition, each consumer’s case is reviewed on at 

least a quarterly basis to assure that all staff are familiar with the goals and intervention plans 

for all consumers in the program. 
 

Medical/Psychiatric Care: 
 

 

HS SPC clients are not required to have medical/mental health/psychiatric services. Many clients 
choose to use these resources and Case Managers may assist clients in accessing these 
resources. The SPC does not provide direct medical care, nor do HS staff prescribe or dispense 
medications. Case Managers may assist clients in obtaining medical/medication 
advice/recommendations from their medical provider(s), including calling for medical advice 
and/or attending medical and psychiatric appointments with clients by client request. Case 
Managers may also assist clients in following medication dosages through observing/helping 
clients read prescription labels and observing clients filling medication sets according to 
prescriptions and recommendations from their medical providers.  HS staff do not make 
medication recommendations, nor do they directly handle a client’s medications. 

 
Incident Reports: 

 
It is the policy of Hope Solutions to document any incident that represents a threat or problem 

to clients or staff. If staff is involved in any kind of problematic incident in the course of their 

work duties they should fill out the Hope Solutions incident report and give it to their supervisor 

within one working day of the event. The information that needs to be shared includes: 

    The date the incident occurred. 

    The consumers involved, their date of admission, age and sex. 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 75



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

28 
 

 A description of the event or incident including the date, time, location, perpetrator, 

nature of the incident, any antecedents leading up to the incident and the effect on 

consumers, including any injuries. 

    Who observed the incident/injury? 

    What immediate action was taken (including persons contacted)? 

    A description of the medical treatment needed if it was necessary. 

    Where the medical treatment was administered, if necessary. 

    Who administered the medical treatment? 

    If follow-up treatment is necessary. 

    What action was taken or planned (by whom, and the anticipated results). 
 

 

The report needs to be completed by the staff person or persons who observed, or were 

involved, in the incident. The Director of Housing Programs or Director of Support & Clinical 

Programs or his/her designee reviews and signs the report and distributes any pertinent 

information to appropriate parties, observing all HIPAA constraints. 

 
Storage/Handling of Documents & Consumer Information: 

 
Hope Solutions abides by HIPAA/HITECH rules and regulations regarding the handling of any 
identifying information of all consumers. Any consumer information that is communicated 
electronically should be done in the following manner: 

 
    Emails containing any protected consumer information should be encrypted. Texts 

should not include a consumer’s protected information. 
 

 The full first and/or last name of a consumer and/or household member should not be 
used in the subject heading of an email or text. 

 
 Staff should not carry any soft or hard copy documents (e.g., on paper, on memory 

sticks, etc.) on their person outside of the Hope Solutions office unless prior approval 
has been received from Management. 

 
 Staff should limit (within reason) any documents saved on their computer hard drive 

containing any identifiable information of consumers, and depending on grant 
requirements, staff may be required to password protect/encrypt any such documents. 
If there are such documents saved on a computer hard drive, this computer should not 
be shared and should only be used by the designated staff person, unless prior approval 
has been received from Management. 

 
 Staff should log off their computers at the end of a workday or whenever they leave 

their desk to ensure misuse of computers does not occur. In addition, staff should lock 
up any documents and/or laptop computers containing protected health information of 
consumers any time they leave their desk area. 

 
 Staff should ensure their supervisor is informed about current computer login/password 

information, Office 365 passwords, passwords used for any password protected files 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 76



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

29 
 

saved on computer hard drives, as well as any company cell phone access codes and 
passwords. 

 
Many consumer documents are stored on the hard drives of computers in the Hope 
Solutions Administrative office, and Hope Solutions ensures the regular, secure back up of 
these documents. All consumer charts are stored in locked file cabinets in Hope Solutions’ 
locked administrative offices. In general, charts may not leave the administrative offices. 

 
Occasionally, Hope Solutions staff need to transport documents that contain protected 
consumer information. Any time this occurs, documents are transported inside a locked box or 
case, and the box/case is secured from access by anyone else transported in the staff 
member’s vehicle. Locked boxes/cases containing protected consumer information may not be 
stored in the vehicle when the staff member is not in the vehicle. Should it be necessary to 
transport a laptop computer which has protected consumer information saved on its hard 
drive, the laptop will have been logged out of any online programs containing consumer 
information and will be turned off, and the laptop will be in a locked case. Neither laptops nor 
company cell phones are to be left unattended in staff members’ vehicles or unsecured in their 
homes at any time. 

 
Consumer Chart Access: 

 

 

A consumer may make a written request to view the contents of his/her own chart at any 

time. Hope Solutions adheres to all applicable federal and state laws regarding written 

consumer requests to view contents of their charts. 
 

 
 

Section 8: PROGRAM RETENTION 
 

Hope Solutions recognizes that serving individuals with a history of homelessness and disability 
requires a flexible approach. Should a participant require a higher level of care due to their medical, 
mental health, recovery or other needs, every possible effort shall be made to retain them in support 
services. Contingent upon the participant’s willingness and ability to take steps to address the 
concerns, the participant may be retained or reinstated in the program when appropriate. In some 
cases, however, termination from the program may be warranted, such as incidents of violent 
behavior, criminal activity or other behavior that seriously threatens the health and safety of the 
community, or when a 
participant has repeatedly lost their housing due to such lease violations. 

 
A. Vacating Unit Due to Eviction 

 
The participant voluntarily vacates their unit prior to a formal eviction filed due to their 

lease violations. 
 

   Within 30 days, the participant must work with their Case Manager to address the issues 
that contributed to their violation. 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 77



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

30 
 

   If SPC participants are liable for property damages or unpaid rent for their unit, the 
participants must take responsibility for these liabilities and agree to a payment 
plan. 

 

   If the participants fulfill the conditions of a Housing Retention Plan, they will continue 
remain in program. If they do not fulfill the conditions within a reasonable period of 
time, the SPC Services Manager will notify the participant in writing that they are 
terminated from their respective program. The participant will be given the 
opportunity to appeal the decision in accordance with SPC policies. 

 

B.  Temporary Leave for Residential Treatment 
 

The participants may choose to retain their unit for up to 180 days while they are in a 

residential treatment program. 
 

  The rental assistance will be provided for up to 180 days, and the participants will 
remain obligated for their portion of rental payment during the treatment. 

 

 

The participant may qualify for reinstatement into the program after treatment ended. 
The participant must maintain minimum monthly contact with their Case Manager while 

 
 

they are in residential treatment. 
If the SPC participant is liable for property damages or unpaid rent for their current 

 units, they must take responsibility for these liabilities and agree to a payment plan. 
 To remain in the program, the participant must: 1) Provide verification of their 

 
 

treatment participation, and 2) update their Action Plan. 
In an event that the participant does not fulfill the conditions as specified above, the 

 SPC Services Manager will notify them in writing of their termination from the program. 
 Participants shall be given an opportunity to appeal the decision in accordance with SPC 
 policies. 

 

C. 
 

 

The participant needs a higher level of care and supervision. 

 
 

 
 

If the participant voluntarily vacates their unit due to their need for institutional care, 
  such as a hospital, nursing home, or chronic care facility, they may qualify for 
  reinstatement into the program within 6 months. The 6-month deadline may be 
  extended on a case-by-case basis at the discretion of the HACCC, in collaboration with 
  

 

the SPC Program Manager. 
The participant must maintain minimum monthly contact with their Case Manager while 

  
 

they are in institutional care. 
If the participants are liable for property damages or unpaid rent for their prior unit, the 

  participants must take responsibility for these liabilities and agree to a payment plan, if 
  applicable. 

 

If the participant’s request for reinstatement is denied, they will be notified in writing and given 

the opportunity to appeal the decision according to the SPC policies. 
 

Appeals Process: 
 

 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 78



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

31 
 

In the event that a consumer/household requests an appeal, the consumer’s Case Manager will 

notify the Director of Housing Programs and the consumer’s/household’s case will be reviewed 

within 14 business days of receipt of the appeal request. 
 

 

An appeal meeting will be scheduled, at which consumers/household members have an 

opportunity to discuss why they feel they do not deserve to be discharged and how they 

have been or will make efforts to stay in housing. During the appeal meeting, the 

consumer’s/household’s assigned Case Manager will be in attendance to advocate on the 

consumer’s/household’s behalf. Subsequently all parties involved (Hope Solutions staff and 

any other providers present) will have the opportunity to discuss what was presented to 

determine if the consumer should be discharged or under what conditions the consumer is 

permitted to remain in housing. 
 

 

After the meeting it is the responsibility of the Director of Housing Programs and/or Director of 

Support & Clinical Programs to put in writing the outcome of the meeting. If the 

consumer/household is given the chance to continue in the multi-site programs, conditions 

which the consumer/household should follow will be outlined in a stipulated agreement which 

the consumer/household will be asked to sign, with the original being placed in the 

consumer’s/household’s chart and a copy of the signed agreement given to the 

consumer/household. A consumer/household will be permitted only one such appeal meeting; 

if the consumer/household violates the terms of the stipulated agreement or continues to 

violate their rental agreement/lease, Hope Solutions reserves the right to take legal action to 

end the consumer’s/household’s tenancy. 
 

 

If it has been determined that the consumer/household will be discharged, the Case Manager 

can provide up to 30 days of transitional support to the consumer/household (unless the 

consumer/household has threatened violence against any member of Hope Solutions staff or if 

the risk of violence to staff is present). Transitional support will be offered at the discretion of 

the leadership team, including the Director of Housing Programs, Director of Support & Clinical 

Programs, and Executive Director. 
 

 

Request for Appeal Hearing Form is below:

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 79



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

32 

 

Request for Appeal Hearing 
 
Every participant in the Hope Solutions’ multi-site supportive housing programs has the right to appeal a 
decision in which they are 1) denied admission to services due to ineligibility, or 2) discharged from services 
and/or from housing. 

 
To request an appeal, participants must make a direct request to Hope Solutions staff or submit this form 
no more than 7 days from the date of denial or discharge from services. All appeals are reviewed by the 
Director of Housing Programs along with other Hope Solutions staff. Appeals may also include the Chief 
Operating Officer or Executive Director, if warranted or requested. Upon receipt of this Request for 
Appeal Hearing Form, or placement of phone call requesting an Appeal Hearing, a meeting will be 
scheduled for you to present your appeal. While you are encouraged to present your appeal in person, 
you are not required to do so. 

 
You are encouraged to bring any information or documentation that provides evidence of housing 
program/rental agreement compliance to the appeal meeting. You may also bring a service provider who 
can support your claim and help advocate on your behalf. Within 14 days following this meeting, you will 
be notified of the final decision regarding your appeal in writing. 

 

 
 

Request for Appeal 
I (name)                                                               hereby request an appeal of the decision to deny me admission 
to Hope Solutions’ housing program, or to discharge me from services and/or housing. 

 
PLEASE CHECK the appropriate box below: 

 
❑    I would like a hearing scheduled so that I may present my appeal to the Director of Housing Programs. 

 
❑ I do not want a hearing scheduled with the Director of Housing Programs. I am including a written testimony 

and any relevant documentation with this appeal for the Director of Housing Programs to review in order to 
make a final decision regarding my appeal. 

 

I am appealing this decision for the following reason (s) (use additional pages if necessary): 
 
 
 
 
 

Signature:    Date:             

 

I can be reached at the following address and phone number for the next 2 weeks: 
 

Address:    
 

Phone:    

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 80



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

33 

 

Section 9: GRIEVANCES 
 

All participants have the right to voice their complaint, concern, or formal grievance, if 

dissatisfied with decisions regarding treatment, services provided, or experiences with Hope 

Solutions staff. 
 

Case Managers are to serve as the primary initial point of contact. Staff members are obligated 

to assist in resolving dissatisfaction to the extent that they are able. Staff members are also 

obligated to report complaints or grievances to their immediate supervisor should they prove 

unable to resolve a concern or dissatisfaction. 
 

Persons served have the right to have present during the complaint or grievance process, 

witnesses and/or advocates. It is our goal to resolve complaints and grievances at the lowest 

possible level, to ensure the best possible service and quick resolution to the issues.  If the 

resolution is not possible with the staff member working directly with the person served or 

seeking service, the issue(s) will be passed up to the SPC Services Manager to resolve the issue. 

If this is not possible the person served has the right to appeal the decision. The Grievance 

Procedures form is included below: 
 

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES 

Hope Solutions Support Services 
 

 

PURPOSE 

To provide a process for residents to discuss complaints or problems with Hope Solutions staff and to 

receive careful consideration and a prompt resolution. 
 

 

DEFINITION 

A grievance is defined as a condition related to support service delivery or policy that the resident 

believes to be unjust or unequitable. 
 

 

POLICY 

1. For site-based programs, Grievance Procedures will be posted on the apartment community 

bulletin board in the community center, provided at start of tenancy and distributed to 

residents filing a grievance. For multi-site and county-wide programs, Grievance Procedures will 

be provided at start of tenancy and distributed to residents filing a grievance. 
 

 

2. Clients are encouraged to discuss grievances or problems with the staff member with whom the 

client has a grievance for problem. If a grievance is still not resolved to the client’s satisfaction, 

the grievance may be discussed with that staff member’s Supervisor or Manager. If still 

unresolved, the grievance may be addressed to the Director of Support & Clinical Programs 

and/or Director of Housing Programs.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 81



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

34 

 

 
3. Management will handle all grievances as an important business matter, making every effort to 

arrive at a prompt and equitable solution. 
 

 

4. Grievances will have no impact on a resident’s right to occupancy or any other right or privilege 

under the lease, nor will they negatively impact provision of any services by Hope Solutions 

staff. 
 

 

5. Whenever possible all parties to the grievance must be present to discuss the issue, unless 

the circumstances warrant a different procedure. 
 

 

6.           Determinations of grievances appealed to the Executive Director will be issued in writing. 
 

 

PROCEDURES 

1.           The Client will: 

Issue grievances by taking the following steps: 

(1)         Discussing the grievance or problem first with the staff person involved. 

(2)         If the matter is not satisfactorily resolved, then by discussing the issue with the 

staff member’s direct supervisor. 

(3)         If the matter is not satisfactorily resolved after taking step 2, the client may 

discuss the issue with the Director of Support & Clinical Programs and/or 

Director of Housing Programs. 

(4)         If the matter is still not satisfactorily resolved, by discussing the issue with the 

Chief Operating Officer or Executive Director of Hope Solutions. This meeting 

must be requested in writing. 
 

 

2.     The  staff member’s  direct supervisor, Director of Support &  Clinical Programs, and/or  
Director of Housing Programs will: 

 
A.          Give a copy of the Grievance Procedure to clients filing a grievance. 

B.          Schedule a meeting within three (3) working days. 

C.          Allow the client sufficient time to explain the grievance and give the Director of Support 

& Clinical Programs and/or Director of Housing Programs sufficient time to give her/his 

interpretation and to discuss the issue. 

D. Give a determination, based upon company policy and/or practice, immediately or 

within five (5) working days of the meeting. 
 

 

3.           The Executive Director will: 
 

 

A. Establish a meeting, to include the client, Director of Support & Clinical Programs and 
any relevant staff, within five (5) working days.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 82



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

35 

 

B.          Allow the client sufficient time to explain the grievance and give the Director of Support 
& Clinical Programs and/or Director of Housing Programs sufficient time to give her/his 
interpretation and to discuss the issue. 

C. Make a decision, based upon company policy and/or practice, and give a written 
determination within five (5) working days of the meeting. 

 

 
Hope Solutions Staff Member                                                                            Date 

 
By my/our signature below, I/we acknowledge receipt of the aforementioned Grievance Procedures: 

 

 
 

Client(s)                                                                                                                   Date 
 
 
 

Section 10: TERMINATION AND APPEALS 
 

Hope Solutions serves individuals with disabilities who are homeless with a history of difficulties in their 
efforts to obtain and retain housing. To adequately serve this disadvantaged and underserved 
population, sensitivity, flexibility, and respect for the participant is critical. Hope Solutions is committed 
to making every possible effort to accommodate participants’ needs toward the goal of housing stability 
and the achievement of participant life goals. 

 
A. Reasons for Termination 

 

Serious and/or repeated violations of the Lease Agreement, or the initiation of formal eviction 

with no demonstrated effort on the part of the participant to address the related issues. Serious 

violations of the Lease Agreement may include: 
 

a)   Non-payment of rent; 
 

b)  Property damage; 
 

c)  Allowing person(s) who are not on their lease to reside in the unit exceeding permitted 

period of days/weeks without written approval of the landlord; 
 

d)  Illegal activities in the participant's unit; and/or 
 

e)  Disturbance of the quiet enjoyment of the neighbors and the community. 
 

3.   Any behavior which threatens the safety of the neighbors and the community including: 
 

a)  Committing violence or making threats; 
 

b) Causing health, fire, or safety hazards to the rental unit and/or the building that 

jeopardizes the health and safety of the neighbors and the community. 
 

4.   Failure to cooperate with rules and regulations required for administering the rental subsidy.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 83



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

36 

 

a)  Non-payment of utility bills resulted that the utility service is cutoff; 
 

b)  Vacating the unit for over 30 days without notice; 
 

1.   No longer meeting the terms and conditions of occupancy due to deterioration of the 

participant's disabling conditions that cannot be provided through PSH; 
 

2.   The total household income exceeds the limit for receiving a rental subsidy; and/or 
 

3.   Voluntary withdrawal. 

 
B. Unsuitable Reasons for Discharge 

 
Hope Solutions makes every effort to ensure program participants are not discharged from the 
program due to reasons that typically fall outside of commonly understood provisions in a lease 
agreement, including but not limited to: 

 
1.   Failure to participate in supportive services. Hope Solutions staff makes extensive efforts to 

engage clients in the program to provide them with regular, or as-needed supportive 
services, and linkage to services that a support worker deems beneficial to a client’s success 
and wellbeing in housing. Using motivational interviewing techniques and a harm reduction- 
based approach; we work to ensure a client’s needs in the moment are met. However, we 
understand that it is a client’s choice to determine if they wish to engage in said services, 
and if they choose not to, they will not be discharged from the program for such a decision. 

 
2.   Failure to make progress on a case plan. Hope Solutions staff makes extensive efforts to 

engage clients in their service/case plan. Case managers work to identify participants’ 
needs as they arise in housing, working to effectively and actively engage clients in their 
growth and development in housing. Should a client make slow or no progress on their case 
plan in any given amount of time, we understand that all clients are on their own individual 
path toward stability and acclimation to structured life in housing, and under no 
circumstances will a client be discharged due to a lack of progress on their plan as identified 
by their service worker. 

 

 

3.   Losing income, or lack of ability to improve income. Having income is not a prerequisite for 
entry into a Hope Solutions PSH program. Participants are approved even without any 
income and are thus not disproved for not having income. The same applies for those 
already in the program(s). If a participant is to lose, or see a decrease in their income, we 
work to ensure supports are in place to assist those participants in reobtaining income 
whenever possible. 

 

 

4.   Domestic violence survivors. Hope Solutions never discriminates against a participant or 
discharges a participant for experiencing a domestic violence situation while in housing in 
any program(s).  Rather, staff work with the individual experiencing abuse to ensure their 
safety and provide support for relocation if and when necessary, as well as providing 
appropriate care to help victims of abuse find medical/mental health treatment if they so 
choose. Hope Solutions complies with VAWA regulations to ensure DV participants’ housing

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 84



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

37 

 

opportunities are protected in the event of a break-up or scenario in which a relationship 
ends during a domestic violence situation. 

 

 
 

C. Due Process for Discharging Participants 
 

Hope Solutions shall make every possible effort to ensure that support services are available to 

the participants so that the rental assistance may only be terminated in most severe cases. 

Whenever possible PSH shall give participants written warning prior to termination so that they 

have an opportunity to take appropriate actions to resolve the issues. 
 

Appropriate termination shall be offered to the participants. For all participants to maintain 

participation in the program, their effort and participation is a must. In an event of termination, 

the participants shall first be given a written warning with an opportunity to address the issue. 
 

If there is no response to the written warning, and the SPC Services Manager determines 

that termination is warranted, the participant will be notified in writing when possible, 

and                                    they will be entitled to appeal the decision according to the SPC Policies. 
 

The written warning shall state the reason for the warning, and the specific actions that the 

participant must take to remain in the program. 
 

Prior to termination, the program will try to provide a reasonable accommodation, such as 

providing linkage to In-Home Supportive Services. If no reasonable accommodation can be 

found, we will strive to assure a smooth transition to a setting that provides a more appropriate 

level of care and supervision. 
 

In the event that participants voluntarily decide to withdraw from SPC, they will be asked to 

submit a written statement of their intention. 
 

C.           Termination Process: 
 

Termination is a formal process that recognizes the rights of the participants receiving 

assistance to due process of law. The termination process is as follows: 
 

Step One: Try to resolve informally: 
 

 

First the Case Manager will attempt to work informally with the participant to address the 

issues. If the landlord is involved, the assigned Case Manager shall attempt to resolve the issues 

through negotiating with the landlord. The SPC Services Manager should be informed of the 

situation, and the Case Manager should document in the participants' files of these efforts 

informally to resolve the issues. 

 
Step Two: Written Warning:

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 85



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

38 

 

Should the issue(s) not be informally resolved, the participant shall be given a written notice 

that clearly specifies the reason(s) that their participation in the program may be in jeopardy. 

The participant may be required to develop a corrective action plan with their Case Manager 

that addresses the issues and concerns. The action plan shall specify any specific actions that the 

participant must take in order to remain in the program. In compliance with the program 

requirements, the participant must respond to the SPC Services Manager within fifteen (15) 

days from the notice was issued. 
 

Should the participant disagree with the warning notice, s/he may request an informal hearing 
with the SPC Services Manager to review the matter. 

 
Step Three: Written Notice of Termination: 

 

Should the participant not satisfactorily fulfill the terms and conditions as set forth in the 

written notice by stated due date, the participant will be sent a final notice, restating the actions 

that must be taken in order to remain in the program. The SPC Services Manager shall proceed 

with a termination by notifying the participant in writing that they are being terminated from 

the program. The notice must contain a clear statement of          the reason(s) for termination. 

 
The written notice of termination must also contain a statement that the participant has a right 

to an Informal Hearing for a review of the decision, in which the participant is given the 

opportunity to present written or oral objections and may be assisted or represented by a third- 

party advocate. 
 

A participant who fails to request an Informal Hearing waives this right, and the decision to 
terminate them from the program becomes final. 

 

 

Section 11: VACANCIES 
 

For unexpected vacancies, such as death of the participants or in the case of incarceration for 
over thirty (30) days, the SPC will provide the rental subsidy for up to one month following the 
date of the month that the unit was vacated. No additional rental assistance will be provided 
until another participant occupies the unit. 

 
In the event that a consumer dies, the staff member who learns of the death should notify the 

SPC Services Manager, the Director of Housing Programs, and the Chief Operating Officer and/or 

Executive Director of the decease date and the circumstances related to the consumer’s death, 

both verbally and in the form of an Incident Report. A copy of the notification should be placed 

in the consumer’s chart and the chart should be stored as would charts of consumers who have 

been discharged. 
 

 
 

For planned vacancies, the SPC participant must provide the property owner with a written “30- 
Day Notice to Vacate.” The SPC will terminate the rental assistance 30 days from the date the

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 86



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

39 

 

owner is notified by the participant, unless the owner has consented to terminate the contract 
sooner. 

 
Participants must notify the SPC Services Manager as soon as they have vacated their unit for 
any reason. If no written notice is provided, the SPC Services Manager will send the property 
owner a written 30-day notice of the contract cancellation, prior to termination of the rental 
subsidy. 

 
The term “vacate” does not include brief periods of absence from the unit. The rent subsidy may 
continue during the inpatient/rehabilitative care, if less than ninety (90) days. 

 
If the participant is liable for property damages or unpaid rent, the participant must take 
responsibility for these liabilities and must agree to a payment plan prior to being issued a new 
certificate. 

 

 
 

Section 12: CLIENT RECORDS AND DATA COLLECTION 
 

Upon move in, a client file is created. While organizing the file, staff verify all required 
documents are completed, signed and dated. Duplicate information should be removed from 
file. 

 
Hope Solutions shall maintain records documenting program eligibility and their services provided to the 
consumers during their participation. All files are reviewed by the PSH Manager to ensure completion. 

 
 

Required Records are as follows: 
 

          Program Application 
          Proof of Homelessness 
          Proof of Disability 
          Proof of Income 
          Program Agreement 
          Consent for Release of Information for Hope Solutions 
          Consent for Release of Information for participation in HMIS 
          Birth Certificates for Minor Household Members 
          Marriage Certificate (if applicable) 
        Valid Photo I.D. 
        Social Security Card 
        Progress notes 
        Copy of lease agreements 
        Consumer-related correspondence 
        Service Match Documentation 
        Program Exit Form for participants who have been discharged

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 87



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

40 

 

 

Section 13: PRIVACY AND CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

Hope Solutions respects participants’ rights to confidential treatment records. All information 
obtained during the course of providing case management services is confidential and may not 
be revealed, shared, or discussed other than at closed meeting sessions, closed case 
conferences with the selected partner agency, or pursuant to guidelines for disclosure as 
described below. 

 
A.          Written Consent 

 
Programs must obtain the informed, voluntary and written consent from the participants to 
release confidential information. A Release of Information form is valid only if it is signed, 
contains a specific statement of the information to be released, the purpose for which it is 
sought, the signed consent date, and the consent expiration date (or 12 months from the signed 
date, if left blank), the identity of the person to whom information will be given, the identity of 
the person within the agency releasing the confidential information, and a statement that the 
participant may withdraw their consent at any time. A copy of the signed release must be 
provided to the participants and must be maintained in the participant’s file. 

 
B.          Mandatory Reporting 

 
Hope Solutions follows written policies regarding disclosure of sensitive information pertaining 
to their participants in these types of situations to community authorities (see Hope Solutions 
Consumer Confidentiality Policies & Procedures). Staff must inform participants of these policies 
and must maintain a signed acknowledgment that participant has been informed of and 
understands the agency’s policy in the participant’s file. 

 
C.           Emergencies 

 
Staff must maintain an up-to-date Release of Information form allowing them to disclose 
information regarding a participant’s medical condition(s) during medical emergencies. 

 
D.          Homeless Management Information System 

 
Hope Solutions is a participant in the Contra Costa County Homeless Management Information 
System (HMIS).  HMIS has developed a Privacy and Confidentiality Policy to comply with HMIS 
requirements and protects the privacy of program participants regarding the client-level data 
that is collected for use in the HMIS. SPC participants will be asked to sign a consent for services 
along with a confidentiality agreement, acknowledging their receipt of the policies and 
willingness to participate in services. 

 
Section 14: MATCH DOCUMENTATION 

 
HUD regulations for Continuum of Care Programs require Hope Solutions, as the 
grantee/recipient of CoC program grant funds to match 25% of the total grant with cash and/or 
in-kind contributions. HACCC and/or Hope Solutions may use the value of any real property,

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 88



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

41 

 

equipment, goods, or services contributed to the project as match, provided that if HACCC/Hope 
Solutions had to pay for them with grant funds, the costs would have been eligible under 24 CFR 
578 Subpart D. 
Hope Solutions may use service match collected using the supportive services tracking system in 
HMIS.  Additionally, Hope Solutions may collect service match documentation related to primary 
and behavioral health services received by participants utilizing Contra Costa Health Services 
systems of care and maintain records that document the value of services provided by Health 
Services. All service match will be reported at least annually as part of APR submission or more 
often if requested. 

 
“Supportive services” means services provided to SPC project participants for the purpose of 

enabling the participants’ ability to maintain independent living during the CoC program 

operating year. 
 

 

The value of services will be calculated based upon CCHS’ electronic billing systems, which tracks 

the type and quantity of services utilized by each client, and assigns costs based upon the 

approved Medicaid reimbursement rate and matching dollars paid by local government for 

those types of services in the Contra Costa community. 
 

No third party may deliver services for the purposes of meeting match requirements without the 
written consent of HACCC/Hope Solutions. Any agreements to have a third party provide 
services with the intent to capture the cost of those services to meet match requirements must 
be documented in the form of an MOU. 

 

 
 

Section 15: NON-DISCRIMINATION 
 

Hope Solutions adheres to the Fair Housing Act and Federal Civil Rights Laws. We will not 
discriminate against applicants or tenants based on race, color, national origin, sex, age, 
disability, religion, sexual orientation, gender identity, local residency, or familial status. In 
compliance with Section 504 regulations, we will take reasonable, nondiscriminatory steps to 
maximize the use of accessible units by eligible individuals whose disability requires the 
accessibility features of a particular unit. We will consider extenuating circumstances in the 
screening process for applicants with disabilities, where required as a matter of reasonable 
accommodation. 

 

 
 

Section 16: LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY (LEP) 
 

For persons who do not speak English as their primary language and those who have a limited 

ability to speak, read, write, or understand English; we will make reasonable efforts to provide 

language assistance. We will arrange to provide forms relating to tenancy in a language that is 

understood by the individual. We will make every effort to obtain oral interpretation and 

written translation services if deemed necessary.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 89



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

42 

 

 

Section 17: QUALITY MAINTENANCE PLAN 
 

Case Management staff will receive weekly or as-needed supervision. Performance goals will be 

set, in accordance with staff goals and program/agency strategic plan goals. 
 

 

Case Managers will meet with the SPC Program Manager on a regular basis to discuss specific 

clients, receive training and plan for program activities. On occasion, other service providers 

may be asked to attend case management meetings to share information and provide support 

for shared clients. The SPC Services Manager and Director of Housing Programs will collaborate 

regarding any urgent consumer issues, clinical approaches to client support, program changes, 

and changes to policies and procedures. In addition, each consumer’s case is reviewed on at 

least a quarterly basis to assure that all staff are familiar with the goals and intervention plans 

for all consumers in the program. 
 

 

Hope Solutions support service staff will meet regularly to receive training and to discuss ways 

to improve the services provided. Property Management staff will be included in trainings as 

appropriate. Staff will also collaborate with each other across programs to access the most 

appropriate skills and levels of support for all individuals/families served. 
 

 

All Hope Solutions staff should have a designated back-up person when they have scheduled 

paid time off. Staff are responsible for working with their supervisor to ensure back-up 

coverage for any and all consumer concerns prior to their scheduled time off. This is to ensure 

all consumers are covered and will reduce the risk for a lapse in services at any given time. 
 

 

An annual consumer satisfaction survey will be distributed to all residents. Results will be 

tabulated and communicated to Hope Solutions staff to make any needed program 

improvements. 
 

All paper case files will be maintained in HIPAA compliant locked cabinets. Only Hope Solutions 

staff will have access to these files. Files will be updated for resident goals and self-sufficiency 

matrix progress semi-annually. Files will be reviewed for completeness periodically by 

supervisors. (Chart review check sheet attached). All staff will be trained in HIPAA compliance 

annually. 
 

 

Files will be closed when residents request to discontinue receiving support services or when 

they move from their housing program (Note: aftercare can be provided to former residents for 

up to 30 days after they move from their housing program, although this may need to be 

provided away from their former housing site/location).  All closed service files are kept for 7 

years after the termination of services or for 7 years after the youngest child served in the family 

turns 18 years of age. After that time files are shredded to maintain confidentiality.

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 90



COC Rental Assistance Program (SPC) Policies & Procedures 
Revision 3/1/22 

43 

 

Section 18: MISCELLANEOUS 
 

Hope Solutions recognizes this Policy and Procedure Manual as a living document which may be updated 

on an as-needed basis to match program changes required by the HUD, the State of California, HACCC, 

the Contra Costa County Continuum of Care and/or Hope Solutions. Any additional documentation and 

support forms can be made available upon request. 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 91



RECOMMENDATIONS 
ADOPT Resolution No. 5250 to approve collection loss write-offs in the public housing program in the amount of $24,715.66 for the quarter
ending March 31, 2023. 

BACKGROUND 
The Housing Authority takes action to write off accounts that have been determined to be non-collectible.

For this quarter ending March 31, 2023 a breakdown of the recommended write-offs, by housing development, is provided in the table on the
following page: 

Action of Board On:   03/21/2023 APPROVED AS RECOMMENDED OTHER 

Clerks Notes:

VOTE OF COMMISSIONERS

Contact:  925-957-8028

 
I hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of an action taken and entered on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors on the date shown. 

ATTESTED:    March  21, 2023 
Joseph Villarreal, Executive Director

 
By: , Deputy

cc:

C.4

  

To: Contra Costa County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners

From: Joseph Villarreal, Housing Authority

Date: March  21, 2023

Contra 
Costa 
County 

Subject: COLLECTION LOSS WRITE-OFF FOR THE QUARTER ENDING MARCH 31, 2023

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 92



BACKGROUND (CONT'D)

CA011-001
Alhambra Terrace
Martinez $0

CA011-003
Bridgemont
Antioch $

CA011-004
Los Nogales
Brentwood $7675.92

CA011- 005
El Pueblo
Pittsburg $

CA011-008
Los Arboles
Oakley $0

CA011-010
Bayo Vista
Rodeo $1528

CA011-011 Hacienda
Martinez $280

CA011-012 Casa de Manana
Oakley $11,559.70

CA011-013
Casa de Serena
Bay Point $2868.29

CA011-015
Elder Winds
Antioch $

CA011-4501
Vista del Camino
San Pablo $803.75

CA011-4502 Kidd Manor $

TOTAL $$24,715.66 

A total of 12 accounts are being recommended for write-off, representing an average of $2,059.63 per account.

Prior to submission of an account for write-offs, the staff makes every effort to collect money owed to HACCC. Once the account is written
off, staff uploads debt amount to HUD's Debts Owed System, to further Housing Authorities efforts to collect monies owed. Past
participants that owe Housing Agencies may be denied admission to public housing or housing choice voucher programs in the future
unless debt is repaid.

FISCAL IMPACT
Uncollectible amounts impact the budget by reducing total rental income. The Housing Authority of the County of Contra Costa (HACCC)
regularly writes off those accounts that have been determined to be uncollectible. Once an account is written off, it can be turned over to a
collection agency. For the period ending March 31, 2022, the collection loss write-off total is $24,715.66.

CONSEQUENCE OF NEGATIVE ACTION
Should the Board of Commissioners elect not to adopt Resolution No.5250 these accounts would inflate the total accounts receivable for
HACCC and present and inaccurate financial position.

ATTACHMENTS
RES 5250 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 93



THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA  

 
RESOLUTION NO. 5250 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING COLLECTION LOSS WRITE-OFF IN THE AMOUNT OF $24, 715.66 FOR THE 

PERIOD ENDING MARCH 31, 2022 
 

WHEREAS, a certain vacated tenant accounts have been determined to be uncollectable by 
management; and  

 
WHEREAS, these tenant accounts may have been, or may be, turned over to a collection agency for 

continued collection efforts;   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the 

 County of Contra Costa that the following amounts be written off for collection loss for period 
 ending March 31, 2022 

 

 Conventional  
Program 

Dwelling Rent 
 

$22,057.96 

Legal Charges 
 

$0 

Maintenance & Other Charges  
 

$2,657.70 

 
TOTAL 

 
$24,715.66 

 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED ON ___________________________by the following vote of the Commissioners. 
 
 

March 21, 2023 Contra Costa County Housing Authority 94


	Agenda
	D.1_ANNUAL AGENCY BUDGET
	D.1_ATT_RES 5248
	D.2_Partnership for the Bay_s Future Grant
	D.2_ATT_Presentation
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Las Deltas Public Housing Site
	Slide 5: Conversion of Las Deltas
	Slide 6: Below Market Value ($1) Sales of first 16 buildings
	Slide 7: Market Value Sales
	Slide 8: Main Campus
	Slide 9: Summary of Timeline
	Slide 10: Subscribe to newsletter

	C.1_RESOLUTION NO. 5249 DECLARING JUNE 19 OR _JUNETEENTH_ AN OFFICIAL PAID HOLIDAY 
	C.1_ATT_Resolution No. 5249
	C.2_INVESTMENT REPORT FOR THE QUARTER ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2022
	C.2_ATT_Investment Report
	C.3_APPROVAL OF THE CONTINUUM OF CARE RENTAL SUBSIDY PROGRAM POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR ADMINISTRATION OF THE PROGRAM BY HACCC AND HOPE SOLUTIONS
	C.3_ATT_RAP Policies and Procedures
	C.3_ATT_HOPE Policies and Procedures
	C.4_COLLECTION LOSS WRITE-OFF FOR THE QUARTER ENDING MARCH 31, 2023
	C.4_ATT_RES 5250

	PHA Name: HA of the County of Contra Costa 
	PHA code: CA011
	PHA FY: 04/01/2023
	BR Number: 5248
	Check Box1: Yes
	Date Operating Budget Approved: 03/21/2023
	Check Box2: Off
	Date Operating Budget Submitted to HUD: 
	Check Box3: Off
	Date Operating Budget Revision Approved: 
	Check Box4: Off
	Date Operating Budget Revision Submitted to HUD: 
	Print Board Chairpersons Name: John Gioia
	Signature: 
	Date: 03/21/2023


